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CORPORATE
PROFILE

 

With a diversified customer base of over 1600 customers in the PRC, 
Fuxing China’s end products are used by renowned brands such as Peak, 
ERKE, Wellensteyn, 361o, LiNing, Beneunder and SanMar, etc. in a wide 
variety of end-products such as apparels, shoes, bags and camping 
equipment.

Since its establishment in 1993, Fuxing China has built up a credible track record and market reputation, having 
garnered over 20 awards in the past 10 years. Its proprietary “3F” brand has been named the “Symbolic Brand 
of China”（中國標誌性品牌）by First Chinese Well-Known Brand Conference in 2006 and “PRC Top 10 Famous 
Zipper Brands”（中國拉鏈十大知名品牌）by the Hardware Association of the PRC in 2005.

In recognition of our quality assurance efforts, our subsidiary, Fookhing Zipper, was awarded the GB/T 19001-
2016/ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System Certificate, valid through September 2025, by the WSF
（北京世標認證中心有限公司）, a third-party certification body headquartered in China. Fookhing Zipper was 
also awarded the GB/T 45001-2020/ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management System 
Certificate and GB/T 24001-2016/ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management System Certificate by the 
WSF, both valid through September 2025. Fookhing Zipper also holds the GRS Certificate (GRS 4.0), valid 
through May 2025, evidencing that our products passed the Global Recycled Standard 4.0, issued by Intertek, 
a multinational assurance, inspection, product testing and certification company headquartered in London, 
England. Fookhing Zipper is authorized to use the label “STANDARD 100 by OEKO-TEX®”, valid through 
September 2025, on our zipper products, which is one of the world’s best-known labels for textiles tested for 
harmful substances, issued by International Association for Research and Testing in the Field of Textile and 
Leather Ecology, headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland.

Our products are sold mainly to China local manufacturers of apparel and footwear products, camping 
equipment, bags, manufacturers of upholstery furnishings, as well as other zipper manufacturers which further 
process or assemble our zipper products in order to customize these according to their customers’ needs. 
Some of the zipper products which we sell are manufactured under our “3F” brand name. In addition, we sell 
to trading companies which export our zipper products to overseas markets, including Australia, European 
countries, such as Russia, Turkey, Spain, Italy, Poland, Belgium, Greece, Slovenia and Lithuania, and Asian 
countries, such as South Korea, Thailand, Vietnam and Indonesia.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has registered 93 valid patents with China National Intellectual Property 
Administration in the PRC. The Group was awarded the “New and High Technology Enterprise” by Fujian 
Provincial Government.



PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKS
AT A GLANCE
 

2 FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1000

800

600

400

200

0
FY2020

697.9

298.6

73.6

325.7

FY2021

762.6

300.6

92.7

369.3

FY2022

841.1

367.4

95.9

377.8

FY2023

761.8

368.0

71.8

322.0

FY2024

735.9

272.6

98.8

364.5

0

5

10

15

20

200

Zipper Chain

Zipper Slider

Non-Zipper

FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 FY2023         FY2024

Gross Margin

Net Pro�t / 
Loss) Margin

EBITDA Margin

Gross Margin-
Zipper Segment

Zipper Segment

Revenue Breakdown
RMB’ million

Margin Trends
%



PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKS
AT A GLANCE

 

3FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

0

200

400

600

800

FY2023FY2022FY2021FY2020 FY2024 FY2023FY2022FY2021FY2020 FY2024
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

697.9
762.6

841.1
761.8 735.9

45.8

18.4

70.7

56.3

45.6

FY2021 FY2022 FY2023 FY2024

130.8

57.4

38.1

3.7

-150

-120

-90

-60

-30

0

30

60

12.7
FY2020

FY2021 FY2022

FY2020 FY2023

FY2024

0.9

-150

-120

-90

-60

-30

0

30

60

147.8

55.3

27.2

10.7

FY2023FY2022FY2021FY2020 FY2024

28.2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35
31.6

34.1 33.3 33.2

FY2021 FY2022

FY2020 FY2023

FY2024

859.2

321.5

155.5

-1000

-800

-600

-400

-200

0

200

400

0.64

0.04

Revenue
RMB’ million

Profit / (Loss) from Operations
RMB’ million

NAV Per Share
RMB

Gross Profit
RMB’ million

Net Profit / (Loss)
RMB’ million

Earnings / (Loss) Per Share
RMB’ cents



 

CORPORATE
INFORMATION

4 FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Koh Boon Chiao (Chairman)
Mr. Low See Lien
Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin

Nominating Committee

Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin (Chairman)
Mr. Koh Boon Chiao
Mr. Low See Lien

Company Secretary

Chua Kern

Registered Office

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

Auditors

RT LLP
70 Shenton Way
#07-15 Eon Shenton
Singapore 079118

Partner-in-charge
Heng Sot Leng
(since financial year ended 
31 December 2024)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Hong Qing Liang
Executive Chairman

Mr. Hong Peng You
Executive Director and Director of 
Finance and Administration

Mr. Low See Lien
Lead Independent Director 
(Appointed on 1 January 2024)

Mr. Koh Boon Chiao
Independent Director 
(Appointed on 15 May 2024)

Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin 
Independent Director 
(Appointed on 15 May 2024)

Audit Committee

Mr. Low See Lien (Chairman)
Mr. Koh Boon Chiao
Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin

Singapore Share Transfer 
Agent

Boardroom Corporate & 
Advisory Services Pte Ltd
1 Harbourfront Avenue #14-07
Keppel Bay Tower
Singapore 098632

Bankers

China Construction Bank
Industrial and Commercial Bank of 

China Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Xiamen International Bank
Rural Commercial Bank of Jinjiang 

Fujian
Fujian Jinjiang Agricultural Bank – 

Longhu Branch
China CITIC Bank



5FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

GROUP 
STRUCTURE

 

Fuxing China Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda)

Jade Star Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in BVI)  

100%

Jinjiang Jianxin Weaving Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the PRC) 

100%

Fulong Zipper and Weaving  Co., Ltd. 
(Incorporated in the PRC) 

100%

Jinjiang Fookhing Zipper  Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the PRC) 

100%

Fookhing Group Trading Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in Hong Kong) 

100%

Jinjiang Fuxing Dress Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the PRC) 

100%

Jinjiang Fuxin Electroplating Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the PRC) 

100%

Xiamen Xinfuxing Property
Management Co., Ltd. 

(Incorporated in the PRC) 
100%

Fuxing China Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Hong Kong) 

100%

Xiamen Fuxing Industrial Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the PRC) 

100%



6 FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE
 

Dear Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to 
present the results of Fuxing China Group Limited (“Fuxing” 
or together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”).

The Group achieved a resilient set of results as it navigated 
a challenging business landscape in 2024. The Group 
registered profit after tax of RMB0.9 million which was a 
marked improvement from the loss of RMB10.7 million 
recorded last year. In addition, the Group managed to 
improve its cash position from the net cash generated 
from operations. The Group is now in a stronger financial 
position poised for long-term growth.

Review of Financial Performance

The Group’s revenue decreased by RMB25.9 million 
to RMB735.9 million. This was due to the decrease in 
the sales of the Trading segment (RMB94.3 million) and 

Processing segment (RMB1.2 million), partially offset by the increase in the sales of the Zipper segment 
(RMB69.6 million).

Due to the sales outreach effects of the sales department which successfully expanded the customer base and 
the enhancement in the quality of zippers after automation, revenue in the Zipper segment registered a 17.7% 
increase over last year. On the other hand, sales in the Trading segment saw a decrease in sales volume arising 
from reduced customers’ demands.

The Group’s gross profit increased by RMB0.2 million to RMB45.8 million, mainly due to the increase in gross 
profit from the Zipper segment. Average gross profit margin improved by 0.2 percentage points to 6.2% mainly 
due to the increase in the gross profit margin from the Zipper segment arising from the lower production costs 
following the decrease in the prices of raw materials.

Other income increased by RMB20.6 million from RMB18.3 million in FY2023 to RMB38.9 million in FY2024 
mainly due to the net reversal of loss allowance for trade receivables of RMB10.6 million arising from the 
settlement of the long outstanding overdues by customers and the net reversal of allowance for advances to 
suppliers of RMB2.7 million following the receipt of raw materials in FY2024. In addition, forfeiture of advances 
from customers amounted to RMB3.0 million as these advance payments made more than 3 years ago were 
not converted into sale orders.

Marketing and distribution expenses decreased by RMB1.6 million to RMB12.0 million, mainly due to fewer 
business trips and entertainment expenses from reduced promotional activities.

Administrative expenses increased by 13.2 million to RMB60.5 million. This was mainly due to the increase in 
environmental improvement project expenses. The environmental improvement project expenses amounted to 
RMB15.3 million, were incurred for one sewerage engineering project for the processing segment to improve 
the sewage water discharge process so as to ensure compliance with the increasingly stringent environmental 
laws.

Financial costs, net, decreased by RMB1.7 million to RMB8.8 million. This was mainly due to the decrease in 
the interest rate on the bank loans in FY2024.

As a result of the above mentioned factors, the Group recorded a profit after tax of RMB0.9 million for the year.
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Review of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2024, non-current assets amounted to RMB337.0 million comprising property, plant and 
equipment, investment properties, land use rights and intangible assets.

The Group’s property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB270.0 million, a decrease of RMB31.0 million 
compared to RMB301.0 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the depreciation expenses in FY2024.

As at 31 December 2024, current assets amounted to RMB559.0 million, an increase of RMB33.5 million 
compared to RMB525.5 million as at 31 December 2023. This was mainly due to the increase in cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables.

Trade and other receivables increased by RMB23.5 million from RMB242.0 million as at 31 December 2023 
to RMB265.5 million as at 31 December 2024 mainly due to the increase in trade receivables from the Zipper 
segment in tandem with the increase in sales of zippers in FY2024.

Inventories decreased by RMB13.9 million from RMB80.3 million as at 31 December 2023 to RMB66.4 million 
as at 31 December 2024 mainly due to the RMB10.6 million decrease in the raw materials inventory as the 
Group retained inventories of 2 months’ raw materials to satisfy the production requirement for first quarter 
2025.

Prepayments decreased by RMB32.0 million from RMB89.4 million as at 31 December 2023 to RMB57.4 million 
as at 31 December 2024 mainly due to the higher conversion rate into raw materials for production usage in 
FY2024.

Cash and bank balances increased from RMB80.3 million to RMB132.9 million mainly due to the decrease in 
prepayment to suppliers and the increase in short-term bank loans.

Loans and borrowings decreased by RMB5.8 million to RMB204.6 million as at 31 December 2024 compared 
to RMB210.4 million as at 31 December 2023. This was mainly due to the reduction of RMB18.0 million in bills 
payables to banks partially offset by the RMB12.2 million increase in short-term bank loans.

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities comprised deferred tax liabilities of RMB19.9 million. There was no change in the 
deferred tax liabilities in FY2024 as compared to FY2023.

Review of Cash Flows

Operating activities

Net cash flows generated from operating activities in FY2024 amounted to RMB68.3 million compared to 
RMB20.1 million in FY2023, mainly due to the decrease in inventory and prepayment to suppliers in FY2024.

Investing activities

Net cash flows used in investing activities in FY2024 amounted to RMB4.3 million compared to RMB8.2 million 
in FY2023, mainly due to the receipt of sale proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment in 
FY2024.
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Financing activities

Net cash flows used in financing activities in FY2024 amounted to RMB11.3 million, while net cash used in 
financing activities in FY2023 amounted to RMB57.2 million, mainly due to the decrease in bills payables in 
FY2024.

Outlook

The Group expects its business environment to remain highly challenging and competitive, and the Group’s 
operating results will continue to be affected by high production costs, razor-thin gross margin and uncertain 
customers’ demand amidst challenging China’s economic growth outlook.

In efforts to navigate through the challenging business environment, the Group will continue to expend 
marketing efforts in its sales outreach to more customers to uplift its sales. In addition, the Group will be 
vigilant in managing its expenses and monitor its receivables and collections closely to minimize bad debts.

As previously announced by the Company, the Company plans to dispose its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Jinjiang Jianxin Weaving Co., Ltd. which is engaged in the processing segment. The disposal proceeds to be 
received will be deployed to strengthen its working capital and enhance its financial flexibility and tenacity and 
improve its financial position in current subdued economic backdrop.

In Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere appreciation to our 
customers, suppliers and business partners for their continuous trust and support over the years. I also would 
like to thank our fellow Directors for their valuable advice and contributions to the Group.

Last but not least, I want to thank the Management and staff of the Group for their efforts and hard work over 
the past year; as well as our shareholders, for their continued support and belief in the Group.

Mr. Hong Qing Liang
Executive Chairman
April 2025
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ABOUT THE
REPORT 
Reporting Boundary 

As a guide, this report encompasses the
operations and subsidiaries over which Fuxing
China Group Limited (“Fuxing” or, collectively
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) holds
management control, unless otherwise
indicated. The report aims to provide an
overview of the Group’s approach, practices,
commitment, and performance in the material
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
topics. It covers the sustainability performance
of our significant operations in the People’s of
Republic of China (“PRC”) for the fiscal year
spanning from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024. (‘FY2024”). 

Reporting Period and Standard 

The reporting period is the same as that of the
financial year of the Group (1 January 2024 to
31 December 2024) and will be published on
an annual basis in accordance with Singapore
Exchange Limited (“SGX”) requirements.

Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosure

This report is prepared in compliance with
SGX-ST Listing Rules, with reference of Task
Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure
(“TCFD”) recommendations in FY2024.

Feedback
We are fully dedicated to our stakeholders
and value their feedback on all aspects of our
sustainability policies, processes, and
performance. Please direct any feedback to
oilinfxcg@gmail.com, as it is critical to
achieving our objectives of building a
sustainable and prosperous business. As part
of our commitment to promoting
environmental conservation, this report will
not be distributed in hard copy.

Global Reporting Initiative Standard

This report was prepared with reference to
the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”)
Standards, which are the most widely
adopted and globally recognized
sustainability reporting guidelines. A GRI
index located at the end of the report
indicates the location of relevant disclosures.
This report is also prepared in compliance
with Rules 711A and 711B of the Mainboard
Rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) (“Mainboard
Rules”) and is referenced to the guidance set
out in SGX-ST’s Sustainability Reporting Guide
under Practice Note 7.6 of the Mainboard
Rules. 

Independent Assurance

The ESG performance data presented in this
report have been primarily sourced from the
Group’s internal information systems and
original records to ensure their accuracy. The
Group did not seek external assurance for this
sustainability report but instead relied on
internal audit’s verification to ensure the
accuracy of the data. 

1FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024
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BOARD
STATEMENT
Fuxing China Group Limited (“Fuxing” or,
collectively with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) is pleased to present its seventh
sustainability report since FY2018. This
report has been prepared in accordance
with the GRI Standards and aligns with the
SGX-ST guidelines on sustainability
reporting.

The Group remains steadfast in its
commitment to integrating material
environmental, social, and governance
(ESG) considerations into its core business
strategy. This report provides a transparent
and accurate account of our sustainability
practices and performance as we strive to
be a responsible corporate citizen.

The Board of Directors (“Board”) and senior
management (“Management”) are
dedicated to upholding an effective
Sustainability Management framework,
underpinned by robust internal controls,
risk management practices, clear
accountability, and structured reporting
processes. The Board actively evaluates
ESG risks and opportunities, incorporating
them into the Group’s overall business
strategy, objectives, and performance
metrics.

2FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024

The Sustainability Reporting (“SR”)
Committee supports Management in
identifying ESG topics relevant to the
Group’s operations. These topics are
assessed for materiality based on their
impact, stakeholder influence, and
alignment with the Group’s strategic goals.
The Board reviews, endorses, and approves
these material ESG topics to ensure
comprehensive and meaningful
sustainability disclosures.

The Board and Management remain
committed to strong leadership and high
standards of sustainability governance,
driving long-term value for all stakeholders.
The Group will continue to enhance its ESG
management and reporting, fostering
continuous improvement and sustainable
growth.
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ABOUT THE
GROUP 
Corporate Profile 

Fuxing was founded in 1993 and has
established a credible track record and
market reputation, having received over 20
awards in the past 30 years. Its proprietary ‘3F’
brand was recognized as the ‘Symbolic Brand
of China’ by the First Chinese Well Known
Brand Conference in 2006 and as one of the
‘PRC Top Famous Zipper Brands’ by the
Hardware Association of the PRC in 2005. 

For over 25 years, Fuxing Group has
specialized in the supply of various sizes of
zipper long chains and finished zippers,
including nylon, plastic, invisible, and metal
zippers, as well as zipper sliders. The Group
currently boasts over 1,000 modern facilities,
and provides sophisticated moulds and
finishing services such as the development and
manufacture of zipper machinery, plating,
dyeing, and more. The Group’s gross annual
output value exceeds one billion CNY.

The Group has been the recipient of numerous
accolades, including ‘Province-level Township
Private Enterprises’, ‘Top 300 Corporate
Image in Fujian’, ‘Top 100 Private Enterprises in
Quanzhou’, ‘Top 200 Private Enterprises in
Fujian’, ‘Credit Grade AAA Enterprise’, and
‘Advanced Enterprise of Create Brand’, among
others. The Group’s proprietary brand, ‘3F’,
has been recognized as a ‘China Famous
Brand’, ‘China’s Iconic Brand’, ‘Top 10 Zipper
Brands in China’, ‘Fujian Famous Brand’,
‘Quanzhou Famous Brand’, and ‘Top 100
Brands in Fujian’. 

All of our products hold Intertek Eco-
Certification, and our manufacturing of zipper
products adheres to the industry standards of
the PRC. The Group places a strong emphasis
on product and technical research and
development (‘R&D’) to ensure continuous
innovation in product quality and improved
efficiency.

The Group has established a research
partnership with the Software Institute of
Xiamen University, aimed at enhancing
production efficiencies and automation in the
manufacturing of zipper products. The
Group’s R&D facility was verified as a ‘Fujian
Provincial Level Enterprise Technology
Centre’ In December 2006, further
highlighting the Group’s strength in R&D. 

The Group was also recognized as a ‘New and
High Technology Enterprise’ by the Fujian
Provincial Government towards the end of
2009. Currently, the Group holds collectively
93 patents which include 12 design patents, 71
utility patents, and 10 invention patents.

Group Structure

Please refer to the Annual Report FY2024 for
Fuxing’s Group Structure.

Principal Activities and Operating
Location 

Please refer to the Annual Report FY2024 –
Notes to the Financial Statements –
Investment in Subsidiaries. 

3FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024
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ABOUT THE
GROUP 
Our vision   

The Group aims to continuously seek business
opportunities in line with our strategic growth
and to deliver value to our customers and
stakeholders as we continue to explore and
expand our business operations. 

Within the industry, we have also upheld a
reputation for quality and high standards in our
operations, as well as excellence in our
operations management. With a diversified
customer base of over 1,600 customers in the
PRC, Fuxing’s end products are used by
renowned brands such as Anta, CBA Leisu,
LiNing, 361o , Samonite, Fujian Peak and
Northpole China, in a wide variety of end-
products such as apparels, shoes, bags and
camping equipments.

Awards and certification 

Certification for ISO 9001:2015 Quality
Management Systems 
Certification for ISO 14001:2015
Environmental Management Systems 
Certification for ISO 45001:2018
Occupational Health and Safety
Management Systems 
Certification for Global Recycled Standard
(“GRS”) Version V.4 
Granted authorization according to
Standard 100 by OEKO-TEXR – Free from
Harmful substances to protect your health
– SH001 187526.1

Policies, practices and performance 

The policies, practices and performance for
each material matter shall be discussed in their
individual sections below. The Group
understands the need to enhance on the
performance of ESG-related matters and
relevant policies and practices when it is
necessary.

Compliance with laws and
regulations

Fuxing is committed to full compliance with
all relevant laws and regulations in Singapore
and China. To uphold this commitment, the
Group established policies and procedures to
ensure adherence. As a publicly listed
corporation, we comply with the Listing Rules
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
(SGX-ST) and the Securities and Futures Act,
both in substance and in principle. In FY2024,
there were no non-compliance with any laws
and regulations are reported. 

Targets 

We are striving to incorporate ESG factors
into daily operations and set out strategies for
improvement and targets to be attained as our
sustainability reporting measures. 

4FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024
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SCOPE OF THE
SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT 
Governance 

Sustainability is integrated into our business and embedded
across various roles and functions. The SR Committee,
chaired by Mr. Hong QingLiang, our Executive Chairman, is
composed of specific working groups with senior
management and board level representatives from various
businesses. The SR committee is responsible for executing
and reporting on material ESG aspects and formulating,
implementing, and reviewing the Group’s sustainable
policies and practices, sustainability development
programs, and initiatives. The Board reviews and oversees
the management and monitoring of material ESG factors,
ensuring that sustainability matters are considered as part of
the Group’s business strategy and aligned with its overall
strategic development. 

Strategic approach 

Fuxing firmly believes that although our businesses are
driven by earnings, our actions must also have a positive
impact on the environment, employees, and all other
stakeholders in our value chain.

Since FY2021, the Group reviewed and defined our
approach to sustainability management with the help of
independent external consultants. We reviewed our existing
non-financial topics and concluded that the following topics
are material to the sustainability of our financial performance
and business operations.

FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024 5
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Economic Environmental Social Governance
2

Economic
Performance

Procurement
Practices

1
Environmental

Compliance
Employment

Training &
Development

Occupational
Health & Safety

Board
Governance

Anti-Corruption

 Please refer to the Financial Statements section of the Annual Report FY2024. 1.
 Please refer to the Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report FY2024.2.

SCOPE OF THE
SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT 

FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024 6

Our Materiality Assessment Process 

Identify 

Define a list
of potential
material ESG
Topics 

Categorize

Refine the
list of topics
by clustering
them into
categories 

Prioritize 

Engage SR Committee
for feedback and
validation of each topic
based on importance to
internal and external
stakeholders 

Supported by a
systematic &
interactive
process to
identify,

categorize &
prioritize

material ESG
Topics
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Key Stakeholder How We Engage
Main Concerns &
Expectation

How We
Respond

Employees
We recognise that our
employees are fundamental to
the Group’s productivity and
continuity. 
We aim to nurture them well
to increase their engagement
and contribution to the Group.

Regular Meetings
Open feedback
platform
Annual performance
appraisals
Teambuilding
activities

Department updates
Training & career
development
opportunities
Health &Safety
Job security

By adopting sound HR
policies and practices
that promote fair
treatment and safe
working conditions,
rewards and
recognition. 

Customers
We strive to maximise our
customer satisfaction, to
increase our sales and
revenue. 
We ensure that we understand
our customers’ needs and
expectations and we aim to
build long lasting relationships
with our customers to win their
support and confidence.

Product sales
channel
Customer service
feedback
Regular direct
engagement and
active partnership.

Product and service
quality
Group’s reputation in
the market
Competition

By establishing quality
control and assurance
policies to ensure our
products meet high
standards and to
promptly address
customer complaints.

Shareholders & Investors
We aim to maintain profitability
and maximise shareholders’ return,
as well as uphold a high standard
of corporate governance and
transparency.

Company website,
phone and email
channels
AGM / Analyst/
Investors meetings 
SGX announcement
and media release

Group strategic
development
Current financial
performance
Future business
outlook

By maintaining
transparency and
proactive
engagement, the
Group engages
investor relations firm
to support the timely
dissemination of
material information.

Business Partners
We work closely with our
suppliers, contractors and other
partners to ensure that all
operations are conducted in
alignment with our sustainability
commitments and industry best
practices.

Regular meetings
and visits
Phone and email
channels

Integrity and
effectiveness of
tender process
Environmental, safety
and health practices
Product and
technology updates 
Performance reviews

By establishing
policies and
guidelines to ensure a
fair and transparent
selection and
procurement process,
supported by ethical
business practices.

STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT 
The Group recognizes that understanding the demands and concerns of stakeholders is crucial
for sustainable growth, and regular engagement with stakeholders helps us to better determine
material areas of focus. The Group operates and maintains diverse communication channels and
platforms to listen to stakeholders’ requirements and opinions. During the year, the SR
Committee, with the support of an independent external consultant, reviewed and determined
that our key stakeholder groups include employees, customers, shareholders and investors, and
business partners. 

7FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024
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STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT 
List of Memberships of Association 

Aspiring to widen our exposure to industry standards and collaborate within and beyond the
industry to improve on current sustainable practices. The Group participate as members of
organizations that include: 

China Hardware Association Zipper Branch (中國五⾦協會)
Fujian Provincial Zipper Industry Association (中國拉鍊協會) 

8FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024
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Material ESG Topics 
Key Highlight

FY2024 FY2023

Economic

Economic
performance 

Please refer to the Financial Statement section in the Annual
Report FY2024.

Procurement Practice 
100% of materials purchased
were from local suppliers. 

100% of materials purchased
were from local suppliers. 

Environmental

Environmental
Compliance 

Zero incidents of non-
compliance were recorded.
No significant fines or non-
monetary sanctions imposed
for breach of environmental
laws and regulations. 

Zero incidents of non-
compliance were recorded.
No significant fines or non-
monetary sanctions imposed
for breach of environmental
laws and regulations. 

Social

Fair Employment 

Continue to promote
diversity and equal
opportunity in the
workplace. 
Comply with local labour
regulations across our
operations. 

Continue to promote
diversity and equal
opportunity in the
workplace. 
Comply with local labour
regulations across our
operations. 

Training and Education

Maintain an average of 2.8
hours of training per
employee annually.
Ensure learning and
development roadmap
account for future skills
required to improve the
efficiency of the business.

Maintain an average of 2.8
hours of training per
employee annually.
Ensure learning and
development roadmap
account for future skills
required to improve the
efficiency of the business.

MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT
Materiality in sustainability reporting, as defined by GRI Standards, refers to topics and
indicators that reflect an organization’s significant economic, environmental, and social impacts
and would significantly influence the assessments and decisions of stakeholders. Guided by an
external independent consultant and taking into account the topics of concern and
expectations of identified key stakeholders, the SR Committee and Management assessed and
prioritized the following material topics for the Group’s focus.

9FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024
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Material ESG Topics 
Key Highlight

FY2024 FY2023

Social

Occupational Health and
Safety 

Zero fatalities or serious
incidents were reported.
Regular workplace safety
trainings, fire drills, and
safety briefings were
conducted.
Workplace is well-
equipped with clear safety
signage. 

Zero fatalities and/or high
consequences.
Workplace safety trainings,
fire drills and safety talks
were conducted. 
Workplace is well-
equipped with safety signs. 

Governance

Board Governance 
Compliance with Corporate
Governance standards and
Best practice.

Compliance with Corporate
Governance standards and Best
practice.

Anti-corruption 
Zero tolerance towards bribery
and corruption, including
facilitation payment. 

Zero tolerance towards bribery
and corruption, including
facilitation payment. 

MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

10FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024

The material ESG topics were also reviewed by the Board and determined to be relevant.
Moving forward, the SR Committee, supporting the Board in its oversight, will continue to
review material ESG topics against the changing business environment, stakeholder opinions,
and emerging global and local trends annually.
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Core Elements Current approach

Governance 

Sustainability is integrated into our business and embedded across various
roles and functions. The SR Committee, chaired by Mr. Hong QingLiang,
our Executive Chairman, is composed of specific working groups with
senior management and board level representatives from various
businesses. The SR committee is responsible for executing and reporting
on material ESG aspects and formulating, implementing, and reviewing the
Group’s sustainable policies and practices, sustainability development
programs, and initiatives. The Board reviews and oversees the
management and monitoring of material ESG factors, ensuring that
sustainability matters are considered as part of the Group’s business
strategy and aligned with its overall strategic development. In FY2024, all
board directors have attended the training on sustainability matters
conducted by external consultant as prescribed by the SGX-ST.

Strategy 

Fuxing firmly believes that although our businesses are driven by earnings,
our actions must also have a positive impact on the environment,
employees, and all other stakeholders in our value chain. Since FY2021,
the Group reviewed and defined our approach to sustainability
management with the help of independent external consultants. We
reviewed our existing non-financial topics and concluded that the
following topics are material to the sustainability of our financial
performance and business operations. 

Risk
Management 

Support by systematic and interactive process to identify, categorize and
prioritize material ESG topics. 

Metrics and
Targets 

We track, measure and report on our environmental performance,
including energy, GHG emissions, water and waste management in our
sustainability report. Monitoring and reporting those performance help us
in identifying areas with material climate-related risks and enabling us to
formulate solution to improve relevant areas. This year, we have set out
quantitative target to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions. For more
information, please refer to Pg. 14

ENVIRONMENTAL

11FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024

Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
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Risk
Categories

Risk Type Risk Description 
Time
Horizon

Mitigation Strategy

Transition risk 

Policy and legal
Introduction of
carbon emission
pricing 

Operation cost
increase 

Short -
medium
term

To reduce the carbon
emissions associated
with our products, we
have installed solar
panels to minimize
reliance on purchased
electricity.

Technology
Substitution of
existing products
with lower
emission options 

Increase in demand
for low carbon
emission products
leads to reduced
demand for current
products. 

Long term

To develop new
products using a
higher proportion of
recycled raw
materials.

Physical risk 

Rising global
temperatures
and increased
frequency of
heatwaves

Elevated health and
safety risks for
workers at our
manufacturing
facilities.

Medium
Term

Production schedules
are adjusted to
minimize exposure to
high temperatures
and heatwaves,
alongside upgrades
to cooling facilities
and enhancements to
staff medical
compensation.

Extreme weather
events, including
floods, droughts,
cyclones, and
other climate-
related
occurrences.

Operation
disruption,
transportation
challenges and
damage to existing
facilities 

Long term

To review existing
facilities to assess
whether repairs or
enhancements are
needed.

ENVIRONMENTAL

12FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024

Climate Change Risks and Opportunities 
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Climate Scenarios: Methodology

Timelines Scenarios applied Risk Categories 

2030, 2050 

RCP 8.5 (Business As Usual)
RCP 2.6 (2 degrees Celsius
scenario)
IEA-450 

Transition and Physical 

Scope of Analysis 

Climate variables Modeled risk 
Considerations for
enhancing climate

resilience

Carbon pricing 

With the enactment of carbon
pricing regulations, we will be
required to pay for our
greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions.

Progress towards zero
emissions. 

Rising temperature 
Rising demand for heating and
cooling due to an increase in
temperature-sensitive days.

Progress in adopting
renewable energy and
enhancements to
production facilities.

Rising sea level 
Viability and resilience of facility
locations

Facilities citing,
construction specification. 

Extreme weather 

More frequent extreme weather
events, such as storms and floods
which may adversely affect the
Group’s operations.

Enhancing disaster
preparedness and
strengthening recovery
capabilities

ENVIRONMENTAL
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Scenario analysis

As a manufacturer in PRC, we understand that climate change may have significant impacts on
our operations. To better understand the potential impacts of climate change on the Group’s
businesses, we conducted climate scenario analysis as below: 
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ENVIRONMENTAL

Scope 1 – Fuel Consumption Scope 3 – Indirect emissions Scope 2 – Energy Consumption 

1
32

Natural gas is the primary fuel used in
our production facilities including
Fulong Zipper and Weaving Co., Ltd.
(“Zipper and Weaving”), Jinjiang
Fuxin Electroplating Co., Ltd.
(“Electroplating”) and Jinjiang Jianxin
Weaving Co., Ltd. (“Weaving”).

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission

We strive to minimize the environmental impact of our business operations and mitigate climate
change risks. Given that our manufacturing facilities consume a significant amount of energy,
managing greenhouse gas emissions is crucial in addressing these climate-related challenges.
To support this effort, we have invested in renewable energy by installing solar panels at our
manufacturing facilities. Additionally, our manufacturing facilities are equipped with in-house
water treatment plants to remove contaminants from wastewater before it is safely discharged
into the environment. 

We conducted a risk assessment
covering 15 categories of Scope 3
emissions and identified Category 9
– Downstream Transportation and
Distribution as having the most
significant impact on the Group in
FY2024. Going forward, we aim to
enhance our assessment by
identifying additional relevant
categories to enable more
comprehensive disclosure of Scope 3
emissions data in future Sustainability
Reports.

It reflects GHG emissions produced
from the generation of purchased or
acquired electricity. Fuxing
consumes a substantial amount of
energy for the operation of
machineries in its manufacturing
facilities. As part of our commitment
to reducing carbon emissions, we
have installed rooftop solar
photovoltaic (“PV”) systems at our
Fujian manufacturing operations in
Jinjiang Fookhing Zipper Co., Ltd
(“Zipper”) and Jinjiang Fuxing Dress
Co., Ltd (“Dress”). 

By December 2024, the solar PV
systems at Zipper and Dress
collectively generated 630,298 kWh
of renewable energy. The Group
anticipates a continued decrease in
the use of non-renewable energy
sources in the years ahead.
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1

GHG emission Unit
2024
Absolute

2023
Absolute

Unit
2024
intensity 

2023
intensity 

Scope 1 tCO2e 280,000 273,485 tCO2e/number of employees 243.06 236.78

Scope 2 tCO2e 500 477 tCO2e/number of employees 0.43 0.41

Scope 3 tCO2e 180 179 tCO2e/number of employees 0.16 0.16

Total tCO2e 280,680 274,141 tCO2e/number of employees 243.65 237.35

To demonstrate our commitment to reducing environmental impact, this year we have set a
target to reduce our total greenhouse gas emissions by 5% in FY2025 compared to FY2024.
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Water consumption

The Group has made a commitment to practice responsible water-sourcing and usage,
acknowledging the significance of reducing its water consumption and taking proactive actions
to accomplish this objective. We remain attentive to our water consumption and endeavors to
diminish our water consumption footprint by continuously implementing water-saving measures.
These measures include identifying and repairing leaks to reduce water waste, encourage our
employees to adopt water-efficient practices, as well as educating all employees on the
importance of water conservation.

Water is supplied by local municipalities, sourced from local freshwater supplies. The Group
does not draw water from any other sources. The Group’s water consumption is presented as
follows:

15FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2024

Year Energy consumption Unit intensity Unit

2024 148,000 MWh 128 MWh/number of employees 

2023 144,509 MWh 125 MWh/number of employees 

Year Total water consumption Unit Water consumption intensity Unit

2024 1,200 ML 1.04 ML/number of employees

2023 1,167 ML 1.01 ML/number of employees

Waste Generation

The Group is committed to reducing and recycling waste wherever possible to minimize landfill
contributions and the environmental impact of our operations. All non-hazardous waste is
properly labeled, stored, and disposed of in compliance with local council regulations and
through licensed contractors.

We actively encourage employees to adopt responsible waste management practices,
supported by regular awareness programs conducted by our in-house environmental
committee. The Group continuously strives to implement best practices in waste management
as part of our broader effort to reduce our environmental footprint.

Target: Reduce total energy consumption by 3% from FY2024 in FY2025

Target: Reduce total water consumption by 5% from FY2024 in next three years
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ENVIRONMENTAL

2
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Waste Generation

Non-hazardous waste 

As part of the manufacturing process, the Group generally produces fabric waste, paper waste
and plastic waste. All non-recycled waste generated will be disposed off through the local
municipal councils on a monthly basis. 

The Group is committed to increasing the recycling percentage of its non-hazardous waste and
is exploring alternatives such as “repurpose” instead of “recycle”. Moving forward, the Group
may seek the collaboration of potential agencies that are able to “repurpose” non-hazardous
wastes.

Hazardous waste

Hazardous waste production is limited to our dyeing and electroplating manufacturing facilities.
The factory produced scheduled waste, SW 204, which is sludge that containing one or more
several metals including chromium, copper, nickel, zinc, lead, cadmium, aluminum, tun,
vanadium and beryllium. 

In terms of managing, storing, and disposing of waste, we ensure that the Group has complied
with the PRC Environmental Quality (Scheduled Waste) Regulations 2006. All non recycled
waste generated will be disposed of through local environmental friendly suppliers by every
one to two months. 

The sludge produced is a by-product of wastewater as a result of our manufacturing activities.
For the disposal of scheduled waste, companies in PRC may only engage contractors being
approved by the Department of Environment to ensure that all scheduled waste is being
disposed of in an appropriate manner. All hazardous waste produced onsite will be held in on-
site wastewater storage tanks prior to further treatment and/or disposal by our contractors.
These wastes can be processed in a licensed facility to recover metals such as chromium,
copper, nickel, zinc, lead, cadmium, aluminum, tun, vanadium and beryllium for reuse as raw
materials in other industries. 

Type of Waste Unit 2024 2023 Type of Waste Unit 2024 2023

Hazardous t 800 790 Recycled t 780 770

Non-hazardous t 30 27.5 Non-recycled t 50 47.5

Total t 830 817.5 Total t 830 817.5

Target: Reduce total waste generation by 3% from FY2024 in next five years
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SOCIAL
Our employees are among our most valuable assets. The Group is committed to fair
employment practices, upholding human rights principles, and continuously investing in the
development and training of our people.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 1,152 full-time staff. Despite the
relatively high turnover rate—common within the manufacturing sector due to the nature of
frontline roles—we have maintained a strong and stable workforce. Employment levels in high-
skilled positions have remained consistent, with no changes to key management personnel
during FY2024. 

FEMALE
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Total Number of Employees

FY2023
1,155

FY2024
1,152

FY2024
630
55%

MALE
FY2023

630
55%

FY2024
522
45%

FY2023
525
45%
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SOCIAL
Age-based diversity
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Role-based diversity

New hire distribution by gender
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We are committed to cultivating an inclusive and performance-driven workplace that attracts,
retains, and nurtures talent. As an equal opportunity employer, the Group has established a fair
system to ensure that all employees receive equal opportunities without preferential treatment.
There is no bias or discrimination based on religion, age, ethnicity, physical disability, or
gender. Employees are expected to comply with all relevant policies and guidelines.

To promote creativity, innovation, and a positive organizational culture, the Group actively
maintains diversity within middle management. In FY2024, no incidents of discrimination were
reported by employees.

The Group upholds an open-door policy, encouraging employees to voice concerns or report
grievances directly to their superiors, department heads, the human resources team, the chief
executive officer, or independent directors. This reinforces our commitment to fostering a
healthy, safe, and secure work environment. Across all business segments, no workplace
grievance cases were reported in FY2024.

SOCIAL
Employment turnover by gender
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Employee Remuneration and Benefit 

The Group values the contributions of all employees and is committed to fair compensation.
We strive to offer competitive remuneration packages that attract, retain, and motivate talent.
When determining these packages, the Group takes into account regulatory requirements,
industry benchmarks, and prevailing salary and employment conditions. Alongside competitive
pay, we also provide a comprehensive range of employee benefits.
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Employment Benefits  Descriptions 

Life insurance 
If our employees become critically ill or permanently disabled, their loved
ones will receive a sum of money to provide them with financial protection
and coverage against risks.

Medical insurance 
Employees are reimbursed for visits to the General Practitioners and dentist,
which are covered under the medical insurance. 

Disability insurance 
All our employees are covered under personal accident insurance and
work-related injury. For instance, the organization will reimburse any
rehabilitation costs or monthly pay-outs for each case of disability. 

Maternity leave Eligible female employees are entitled to maternity leave. 

Retirement provision For employees qualified for pension approaching the retirement.

SOCIAL
Employee Remuneration and Benefit 
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Development and training 

The Group recognizes the importance of keeping employees informed and continually
developing their skills in an ever-evolving work environment.

In addition to on-the-job and ad-hoc training, we provide a broad range of learning and
development opportunities designed to enhance employees' skills and expertise. These include
leadership and management training programs, mentoring initiatives, and language courses,
among others. The Group also supports and encourages further education and professional
development, understanding that individual growth contributes to both personal success and
the long-term success of the organization.
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SOCIAL
Programmes for Upgrading Employee Skills and Transition Assistance 
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The Group is committed to allocating a budget and planning skill development initiatives to
equip employees for achieving its strategic goals. We believe that a more skilled workforce
strengthens Fuxing’s human capital and enhances employee satisfaction, ultimately improving
overall performance.

To upgrade and enhance employees' technical and workplace skills across various operational
modes, the following training sessions are conducted:

Quality Management Training
Fire Drill and Demonstration Exercise
Safety Production Training
Marketing Training 

Performance and Career Development Review 

Employee performance and career development reviews are an integral part of the Group’s
annual performance appraisal process. This process fosters open communication between
supervisors and employees, enabling effective performance evaluation and constructive
feedback.

Following the appraisal, key outcomes such as promotions, salary adjustments, and annual
variable bonuses are determined based on the assessment results. Employees are evaluated and
rewarded fairly, with consideration given to their experience, qualifications, and performance.
In FY2024, 70% of our employees received regular performance and career development
reviews.

The Group remains committed to supporting continuous growth by providing relevant training
and educational opportunities through structured development programs, fostering a positive
and empowering work environment where every employee can reach their full potential.
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SOCIAL
Occupational Health and safety
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Safety is a fundamental aspect of our business and a top priority for our Board and
Management. We are committed to fostering a safe, conducive, and healthy work environment
as part of our dedication to employee development.

Given the labor-intensive nature of our operations, workplace safety is of utmost importance to
us. We acknowledge our responsibility to safeguard the well-being of our employees and
continuously strive to maintain a secure and conducive workplace. To achieve this, we ensure
strict compliance with all relevant safety and environmental regulations, aiming to reduce the
risk and impact of potential hazards. The Group has also established a comprehensive set of
protocols and precautions to fully protect workers across all areas of their work. 

For FY2024, the Group did not record any cases of fatalities or high-consequence injuries.
However, there were two recordable injuries involving the arms or legs of two female
employees. These cases were proceeded to workers' compensation claims.

Occupational Health and Safety Management Framework

To enhance workplace safety supervision and effectively communicate workplace safety and
health (WSH) messages, we have formed the Safety Committee. As a Group, this committee is
led by the General Manager and includes three Production Supervisors along with 17 Heads of
Departments (HODs).

The Safety Committee is responsible for overseeing the the Group’s operations, ensuring that
safety standards are consistently maintained and aligned with industry best practices. Its key
responsibilities include reviewing, implementing, and reinforcing safety regulations to
comprehensively address all aspects of workplace safety. Additionally, the committee monitors
safety performance, infrastructure, and incidents while also organizing and coordinating safety-
related activities.

Our Group is committed to learning from past mistakes to prevent similar incidents in the future.
Any near-miss incidents or accidents are promptly reported to the Safety Committee, which
then conducts timely incident analyses and briefings for employees. These briefings aim to
enhance employees’ safety awareness and reinforce established safety measures, precautions,
and protocols to prevent recurrence.

For FY2024, the Group did not report any violations of relevant labor laws in the PRC.
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GOVERNANCE
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Board Composition

The Board strives to maintain a balanced and diverse composition to enhance its effectiveness,
aligning with its Board diversity policy. This policy supports the principle that the Board should
possess a mix of skills, knowledge, experience, and other diversity factors that contribute to
the Group’s strategic and business objectives, as well as its sustainable growth. It aims to foster
the inclusion of varied perspectives, ideas, and insights, ensuring the Group benefits from a
wide range of talent sources.

When determining the optimal composition and size of the Board and its committees, the
policy guides the Nomination Committee ("NC") to evaluate multiple factors, including skills,
expertise, professional background, education, gender, age, and tenure. The specific
competencies considered include accounting and finance, business and management
experience, industry expertise, strategic planning, customer-based marketing, and
manufacturing knowledge.

Potential candidates are identified through various means, including external search firms, which
are instructed to prioritize diversity, with a particular focus on gender representation. As a
result, female candidates must be included in the selection process.

After evaluating the candidates, the NC conducts interviews with shortlisted individuals and
subsequently makes recommendations to the Board, including committee appointments based
on the candidate’s skill sets and the Board’s needs. Taking into account the NC's
recommendations, the Board assesses whether the candidates align with its diversity policy and
possess the required competencies for effective governance.

In FY2024, Fuxing's Board comprises five directors, and we are pleased to announce the
onboarding of a female director, Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin. The Board will work closely with the
Nomination Committee (NC) to identify and evaluate potential candidates who meet the
diversity criteria when appointing new directors or during Board renewal. Any updates or
progress made in implementing the Board Diversity Policy will be disclosed in the Company’s
Corporate Governance Report, as appropriate. In terms of qualifications and competencies, the
Board consists of seasoned professionals with expertise in business management and strategic
planning.

The Board believes that its members’ different backgrounds, experience, age, gender, tenure of
service, and skill sets provide a diversity of perspectives which contribute to the quality of its
decision-making. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
candidate will bring to the Board. With the support of the NC, the Company will ensure
compliance with new listing requirements and oversee the effective implementation of the
diversity policy.
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Management DIversity

Governance Bodies by Gender

Non-Governance Bodies by Gender
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Classification No of personnel

Board of Directors 5

Management 5

Middle management 46

Non-management staff 33

GOVERNANCE
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Certification - ESG related 

We strive our best efforts to achieve ESG related standards, the following certifications are our
contribution: 

Anti-corruption and Whistle Blower Program  

The Group is committed to maintaining high ethical and professional standards. All Directors,
officers, and employees are required to comply with relevant legislation, as well as adhere to
the Group’s policies, procedures, and corporate governance requirements where applicable.
They must refrain from engaging in any improper activities, including fraud. A notice regarding
the whistleblower program will be prominently displayed on notice boards across all locations.

The Whistleblower Program is designed to address reports of suspected misconduct related to
the Group’s accounting, financial matters, and internal controls. Whistleblowers are assured
confidentiality regarding their identity. Reported cases will be thoroughly reviewed,
documented, and assessed to determine the validity of the allegations. If the claims are
substantiated, appropriate corrective actions will be recommended and implemented.

In FY2024, no instances of corruption or significant employee misconduct were reported.
Additionally, communication and training initiatives were conducted across the Group, involving
a total of 89 personnel, ensuring that the importance of these requirements was effectively
conveyed. The staff category details are outlined below.

Certification for Global Recycled
Standard (GRS) Version V.4

Granted authorization according to
Standard 100 by OEKO-TEXR 
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Ethical Behaviour and Code of Conduct 

The Group’s Code of Conduct (“Code”) is the document that delivers our commitments to all
our stakeholders into a set of formal written requirements. It puts all employees under specific
obligations, adding more stringent obligations for certain individuals. 

It reminds us that the Group is committed to acting with integrity in all its activities. In other
words, we care how results are obtained, not just that they are obtained. This is right in itself
and is also a vital company asset that helps our business prosper. This Code applies across the
Group. All employees of the Group, irrespective of their positions and functions, are expected
to fully adhere to the principles contained in the Code. 

The Group will fully support those who pass up unethical opportunities or in good faith report
potential or actual breaches of the Code. Employees are encouraged to provide their views to
help gauge the Group ethical culture and management’s ethics and controls commitment. 
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Supplier assessment 

The Group firmly believes that its suppliers and subcontractors are key business partners
that can create a positive economic impact, thereby enhancing stakeholder returns. To
this end, the Group maintains a stringent vendor selection process that takes into
account vendors' past track records and adherence to occupational health and safety
standards.

We have also developed procurement policies and guidelines, such as: 
• Guidelines and procedures in selecting and evaluating vendors; and
• Code of conduct when dealing with vendors.

To ensure that only qualified suppliers are selected during supplier onboarding, new
suppliers are assessed under stringent criteria, which include track records, financial
strength, commitments towards high quality, health and safety standards, and
sustainability. Sustainability is one of the key factors that we consider when selecting a
supplier, and we evaluate potential candidates based on their sustainability
performance and practices. The Group collaborates with partners and suppliers to
redesign our product offerings to reduce the negative environmental impacts related to
production and consumption. 

All of our suppliers are required to submit relevant environmental certifications to
demonstrate that they are licensed or certified and operating in accordance with the
law and regulations. Additionally, we conduct random periodic inspections to ensure
that our suppliers are complying with relevant laws and regulations. The Group carries
out the necessary due diligence in the procurement process to ensure that quality is not
compromised and our suppliers do not have any adverse impact on the environment.
We will continue to remain fully committed to responsible procurement while
generating positive economic and social benefits for the local community in which we
operate. 

In FY2024, the Group engaged 84 PRC suppliers to purchase a range of raw materials
from them, with polyester and zinc alloy being our main raw materials. 
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Category Disclosure Description  Page reference and Remarks 

GENERAL DISCLOSURES

GRI 2:
General Disclosures
2021

Organisational Profile

2-1 Organisational details 3-4

2-2
Entities included in the organisation's
sustainability reporting

1

2-3
Reporting period, frequency and
contact point

1

2-4 Restatements of information No restatements

2-5 External assurance 1

Activities & Workers

2-6
Activities, value chain and other
business relationships

3, 7, 8, 27

2-7 Employees 17

Governance

2-9
Governance structure and
composition

23

2-10
Nomination and selection of the
highest governance body

23

2-11
Chair of the highest governance
body

23

2-12
Role of the highest governance
body in overseeing the management
of impacts

5, 23

2-13
Delegation of responsibility for
managing impacts

23

2-14
Role of the highest governance
body in sustainability reporting

5, 23

2-15 Conflicts of interest

Corporate Governance section in the
Annual Report FY2024

2-16 Communication of critical concerns

2-17
Collective knowledge of the highest
governance body

2-18
Evaluation of the performance of the
highest governance body

2-19 Remuneration policies

2-20 Process to determine remuneration

2-21 Annual total compensation ratio
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Fuxing China Group Limited has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for
the period 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 with reference to the GRI Standards 2021 as
follows:
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Category Disclosure Description  Page reference and Remarks 

GENERAL DISCLOSURES

GRI 2:
General Disclosures
2021

Strategy, policies and practices

2-22
Statement on sustainable
development strategy

5

2-23 Policy commitments 11-27

2-24 Embedding policy commitments 1

2-25
Processes to remediate negative
impacts

11-27

2-26
Mechanisms for seeking advice and
raising concerns

25

2-27
Compliance with laws and
regulations

4

2-28 Membership associations 8

Stakeholder engagement

2-29
Approach to stakeholder
engagement

7

2-30 Collective bargaining agreements None

MATERIAL TOPICS

GRI 3:
Material Topics
2021

Reporting Practice

3-1 Process to determine material topics 6

3-2 List of material topics 9-10

3-3 Management of Material topics 9-10

GRI 204:
Procurement
Practices 2016

204-1
Proportion of spending on local
suppliers

9, 27

GRI 205: Anti-
corruption 2016

205-1
Operations assessed for risks related
to corruption

25

205-2
Communication and training about
anti-corruption policies and
procedures

25

205-3
Confirmed incidents of corruption
and actions taken

25
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Fuxing China Group Limited has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for
the period 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 with reference to the GRI Standards 2021 as
follows:
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Category Disclosure Description  Page reference and Remarks 

GENERAL DISCLOSURES

MATERIAL TOPICS

GRI 401:
Employment 2016

401-1
New employee hires and
employee turnover

18-19

401-2

Benefits provided to full-time
employees that are not provided
to temporary or part-time
employees

19-20

401-3 Parental leave 19-20

GRI 403:
Occupational Health
and Safety 2018

403-1
Occupational Health and Safety
Management System

22

403-9 Work-related injuries 22

GRI 404: Training
and Education 2016

404-1
Average hours of training per year
per employee

20

404-2
Programs for upgrading employee
skills and transition assistance
programmes

20-21

404-3
Percentage of employees
receiving regular performance and
career development reviews

21

GRI 405: Diversity
and Equal
Opportunity

405-1
Diversity of governance bodies
and employees

23-24

GRI 406: Non-
discrimination

406-1
Incidents of discrimination and
corrective actions taken

19

GLOBAL REPORTING INITIATIVE
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Fuxing China Group Limited has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for
the period 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 with reference to the GRI Standards 2021 as
follows:
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Mr. Hong Qing Liang
Executive Chairman

M r .  H o n g  Q i n g  L i a n g  i s  t h e 
Group’s Co-Founder and Executive 
Chairman. He was appointed to the 
Board on 19 December 2006, and 
last reelected on 30 June 2022. 
Since co-founding our Group in 
1992, he has played an instrumental 
role in managing the business, 
operations and strategic directions 
of the Group. His responsibilities 
include formulating and executing 
our Group’s business strategies and 
policies. He possesses substantial 
exper ience and knowledge o f 
the zipper industry, having been 
involved with the zipper business 
for over 30 years. Prior to this, he 
was running his own zipper trading 
business. In 2000, Mr. Hong was 
named the Honorable Chairman of 
Zipper Industry Association of Fujian 
Province. Subsequently in 2003, 
he was also appointed the Vice 
Chairman of the Foreign Investment 
Enterprise Association of Long Hu 
Town, Jinjiang City, Vice Chairman 
of Chamber of Commerce of Long 
Hu Town, Jinjiang City and Chairman 
of the Zipper Hardware Industry 
Associat ion of Long Hu Town, 
Jinjiang City.

Present directorships in other listed 
companies

Nil

Past directorships in other listed 
companies held over the preceding 
three years

Nil

Mr. Hong Peng You
Executive Director and Director of 

Finance and Administration

Mr. Hong Peng You has been our 
Executive Director since December 
2006 and our Director of Finance 
and Administration since September 
2022 and was last re-elected on 
29 April 2024. He is responsible for 
all administration matters of the 
Group and also oversees the finance, 
budget and internal control matters 
of the Group. He started his career 
in 1990 in the finance department 
as an accountant of Fujian Fu Lian 
Manufacturing Co., Ltd until 1993. 
From January 1994 to December 
2003, he took on the position of 
the Sect ion Chief in Fookhing 
Zipper’s finance department. He 
la ter assumed the pos i t ion of 
Financial Manager in 2004 and 
was subsequently appointed as 
Deputy General Manager in 2005 
and took charge of all finance and 
administration matters. He graduated 
from Quanzhou Liming University with 
an education certificate in accounting 
in July 1990. He also obtained an 
education certificate in accounting 
from Wuhan Technological University 
in January 2008, as well as a degree 
certificate in business administration 
in January 2008. He was awarded 
China Famous Accountant by World 
Specialty International Center in 
2001 and Senior Finance Manager 
by China Enterprises Association in 
2005. He is a registered accountant 
with Jinjiang City Finance Bureau and 
a senior tax planner. He is a certified 
Senior Accountant by International 
Profession Certification Association, 
a s  w e l l  a s  a  C e r t i f i e d  C h i e f 
Accountant by China Association of 
Chief Accountants. He is admitted 
as Associate Member of Association 
of International Accountants in 2022, 
and A Fellow Member of Association 
of International Accountants in 2023.

Present directorships in other listed 
companies

Nil

Past directorships in other listed 
companies held over the preceding 
three years

Nil

Mr. Low See Lien
Lead Independent Director

Mr. Low See Lien was appointed as 
Lead Independent Non-executive 
Director to the Board on 1 January 
2024 and was last re-elected on 29 
April 2024. He has more than 20 
years of professional experience in 
audit and assurance related projects, 
which includes clients in oil and gas, 
technology, media, manufacturing, 
and entertainment. He has also been 
involved in Initial Public Offerings 
(“ IPOs” ) as well as public debt 
offerings. During his time with a 
previous employer, he was seconded 
to the United States and from this, 
he has gained extensive knowledge 
of US report ing requi rements, 
including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 
He is currently a partner at Baker 
Tilly TFW LLP, which is a top ten 
accounting firm in Singapore. He is 
also the audit committee chairperson 
at Miyoshi Limited, a position he 
has held since 27 December 2021. 
Miyoshi Limited, which started its 
operations in 1987, is a leading 
manufacturer in Asia with a global 
customer network of more than 18 
countries across Asia Pacific, Europe 
and North America. He graduated 
f r o m N a n y a n g  T e c h n o l o g i c a l 
Un ive rs i ty  w i th  a  Bache lo r  in 
Accountancy degree and he is a 
fellow Chartered Accountant from 
the Institute of Singapore Chartered 
Accountants (“ISCA”). He sits on 
ACRA’s Complaint and Disciplinary 
Panel and he is also a Member of 
Singapore Institute of Directors.

Present d i rectorships in other 
listed companies / other Principal 
Commitments

– Miyoshi Limited

– Audit Partner at Baker Tilly 
TFW LLP

– H o n o r a r y  T r e a s u r e r  o f 
t h e  S i n g a p o r e  N a t i o n a l 
Paralympic Council

Past directorships in other listed 
companies held over the preceding 
three years

Nil
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Mr. Koh Boon Chiao
independent director

Mr. Koh Boon Chiao was appointed as Independent 
Non-executive Director to the Board on 15 May 2024. 
Since August 2024, he has been a Director at RCP Law 
LLC. Prior to that he was a special counsel at Mishcon 
de Reya LLP. He has over 19 years of experience in 
the legal industry. He started his career with Shook Lin 
& Bok LLP as an associate from May 2006 to October 
2010. He was an associate and then a partner of 
Dentons Rodyk & Davidson LLP from October 2010 until 
he left the firm in July 2016. He joined Parkway Group 
Healthcare Pte. Ltd. as an assistant vice president of 
the legal department from July 2016 to February 2018, 
where he was responsible for reviewing and advising 
on legal matters of the company. Between March 2018 
and 31 December 2023, he served in a leadership role 
in the legal department of various companies, including 
Yangzijiang Financial Holding Ltd., EVYD Research Pte. 
Ltd., Digitrade Fintech Pte. Ltd., MindChamps PreSchool 
Singapore Pte. Ltd., ICHX Tech Pte. Ltd., and TenX Pte. 
Ltd. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree from the 
National University of Singapore in June 2005.

Present directorships in other listed companies/other 
Principal Commitments

– Director at RCP Law LLC
– AM Group Holdings Limited (HKEX: 1849)

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the 
preceding three years

– Snack Empire Holdings Limited (HKEX: 1843)
– Camsing Healthcare Limited (SGX:BAC)

Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin
independent director

Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director to the Board on 15 May 2024. Since 
June 2023, she has also been the company secretary 
and chief financial officer with HG Semiconductor 
Limited (HKEX: 6908), a public company listed on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange engaging in the design, 
development, manufacturing, subcontracting and sales 
of semiconductor products, including light-emitting diode 
lights, new generation of semiconductor gallium nitride 
chips and GaN device related application products in 
China. She has over 20 years of experience in auditing, 
accounting, corporate governance monitoring and 
financial management. She holds a bachelor’s degree in 
Business Administration from Simon Fraser University 
in Canada in 1999, a bachelor’s degree in Law from 
Tsinghua University in the PRC in 2008, and a master’s 
degree in Law from the University of Wolverhampton in 
the United Kingdom in 2014. She is a member of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 
also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants.

Present directorships in other listed companies/other 
Principal Commitments

– Chief Financial officer at HG Semiconductor 
Limited (HKEX: 6908)

– China Liberal Educat ion Holdings Limited 
(NASDAQ: CLEU)

– Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited (HKEX: 2263)
– S u n w a y  I n t e r n a t i o n a l  H o l d i n g s  L i m i t e d 

(HKEX:0058)

Past directorship in other listed companies held over the 
preceding three years

– Nil
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Mr. Hong Shao Lin
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Hong Shao Lin is the Company’s Chief Executive 
officer. Mr. Hong joined a subsidiary of the Group’s 
Purchasing Department in 2009 as Purchasing 
Executive. In 2011, he was promoted to the Purchasing 
Manager. In April 2013, he was re-designated as 
General Manager. Mr. Hong is the son of the Company’s 
Executive Chairman, Mr. Hong Qing Liang. He graduated 
from Huaqiao University with a Bachelor in Economic 
Management Degree.

Mr. Hong Shui Ku
Chief of Operations

Mr. Hong Shui Ku is the Group’s Chief of Operations. 
He was the Group’s Executive Director from 11 May 
2011 till 18 March 2019 whereby he relinquished 
his position as Executive Director to focus on his 
existing management role in operations. He has a 
wealth of practical experience in the zipper business, 
having been in the zipper trade since 1980. He joined 
the Group in 1993 and is responsible for assisting 
the Board in overseeing the overall operations and 
Management in the Group. Prior to joining the Group, 
Mr. Hong was engaged in zipper trading operations 
from 1980 till 1992. Mr. Hong graduated from Ying Lin 
High School, Jinjiang City, Fujian Province, the PRC 
in 1979.

Mr. Ye Mu Gui
Production Manager

Mr. Ye Mu Gui is our Production Manager. He joined 
our Group in February 1995. He has 25 years of 
experience in the zipper industry. He is currently 
responsible for overseeing the technical and 
production process.

Mr. Zhang Shang Lian
Sales and Marketing Manager

Mr. Zhang Shang Lian is our Sales and Marketing 
Manager. He joined our Group in October 2009. He 
is currently responsible for our Group’s sales and 
marketing operations, as well as after sales services. 
Prior to this, Mr. Zhang Shang Lian served as a Sales 
Manager in HuaCheng Commercial and Trading Co., 
Ltd.

Mr. Lei Zhen Min
Assistant General Manager

Mr. Lei Zhen Min is our Assistant General Manager. 
He joined our Group in 2014 and was promoted to 
Assistant General Manager from the post of Human 
Resource Manager previously held. As the Assistant 
General Manager, he assisted the Group’s CEO 
in overseeing the daily business operations of the 
Group. He graduated from Fujian engineering college 
and Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University and 
Renmin University of China. He has worked in several 
large companies and enterprise groups in different 
industries, i.e in Fujian Electronic Information Group 
and Shandong Laiwu Zhonglian Shangding Real 
Estate Development Co., Ltd. as the office department 
head. He has also worked in Zhejiang Puledi Culture 
Communication Co., Ltd., as the human resources 
department head and also the executive president of 
Business schools. 
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INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Fuxing China Group Limited (the “Company” and together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within the 
Group and places importance on its corporate governance and systems so as to enhance shareholders’ value, 
corporate performance, accountability and protection of stakeholders’ interests.

This report describes the corporate governance practices of the Group for the financial year ended 31 
December 2024 (“FY2024”) with specific reference to the principles and provisions of the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2018 (the “Code”) and the accompanying practice guidance and accompanying Practice Guidance 
issued in August 2018, which forms part of the continuing obligations of the Listing Rules of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).

The Board is pleased to report that for FY2024, the Group has complied in all material aspects with the Code 
and Listing Rules. Where there are deviations from the Code, explanations as to how the Group’s practices 
were consistent with the intent of the principle in question are provided in this report. The Company did not 
adopt any alternative corporate governance policies in FY2024.

The Board will continue to review the corporate governance practices on an on-going basis for relevance and 
effectiveness with reference to the environment in which the Group operates.

(A) BOARD MATTERS

THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

Principle 1:  The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with 
Management for the long-term success of the company.

Directors’ Fiduciary Duties and Conflicts of Interest (Provision 1.1)

The Board assumes responsibility for the stewardship of the Group and is collectively responsible for the 
overall performance of the Group, with the fundamental principle to act in good faith and the best interests 
of the Company. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures that all Board members act 
objectively in discharging their duties and responsibilities at all times and in the interests of the Company 
for the long-term performance and success of the Group. The Board believes that when taking decisions, 
all Directors act objectively in discharging their duties and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries and in 
the interests of the Company. If there is any conflict of interest, Directors will voluntarily recuse themselves 
from all discussions and decisions involving the issues of conflict, unless the Board is of the opinion that his 
participation is necessary.

Directors’ Orientation, Induction, Training and Development (Provision 1.2)

Directors are encouraged to receive regular training and participate in conferences, seminars or any training 
programmes in connection with their duties to keep abreast of a dynamic business environment.

In FY2024, the Board was briefed on updates on Listing Rules of the SGX-ST, changes to accounting standards 
and regulatory developments. The Board is also kept informed of the new updates regarding the amendments 
and requirements of the SGX-ST and other statutory and regulatory requirements from time to time. Relevant 
news releases issued by the SGX-ST are also circulated to the Board for information. In addition, the Directors 
attended several trainings organised by institutions such as The Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants 
during FY2024.



43FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

 

Newly appointed Directors are briefed on the Group’s business activities, strategic directions and regulatory 
environments in which the Group operates. They will also have the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational 
facilities and to meet with Management so as to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business 
operations. Newly appointed Directors who do not have prior experience or are not familiar with the duties 
and obligations required of a Director of a company listed on SGX-ST will be required to undergo mandatory 
training pursuant to Rule 201(5)(a) of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST and Practice Note 2.3 of the Listing 
Rules on the roles and responsibilities of a listed Company Director. Newly appointed Non-Executive Directors 
are provided with a letter of appointment setting out their duties, obligations and terms of appointment while 
Executive Directors are provided with a service agreement setting out their terms of office and terms and 
conditions of their respective appointments.

In FY2024, three Independent Non-Executive Directors, being Mr. Low See Lien, Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. 
Tsang Ngo Yin were appointed to facilitate board renewal. As part of the induction programme for the newly-
appointed Directors, Mr. Low See Lien and Mr. Koh Boon Chiao visited the Group’s factory and office premises 
to gain better understanding of the Group’s business operations. All newly-appointed Directors were briefed 
and provided with background information about the Group’s history, strategic direction, industry-specific 
knowledge and the Group’s governance practices. They were also provided with formal letter of appointments 
setting out their duties and obligations as a Director of the Company.

Ms. Tsang has no prior experience as a director of public-listed companies in Singapore and has registered to 
attend the mandatory trainings for first-time Director as prescribed by the SGX-ST pursuant to Practice Note 2.3 
of the Listing Rules within one year from her date of appointment.

Board Reserved Matters (Provision 1.3)

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s strategic business plans, and assesses key risks, operation and 
financial performance of the Group to enable the Group to meet its strategic objectives and also has the 
overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining a framework of good corporate governance in the Group, 
including the risk management systems and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the 
Group’s assets. The Board also considers sustainability issues as part of its strategic formulation.

The Board has adopted internal control guidelines which provide that where appropriate, authority has been 
delegated to Management to facilitate operational efficiency. Within these guidelines, the Board approves 
transactions that exceed certain pre-determined thresholds.

In addition, approval of the Board is required for any matters, inter alia, mergers and acquisition, investments 
and divestments, acquisitions and disposals of assets, major corporate policies on key areas of operations, 
acceptances of bank facilities, annual budget, release of the Group’s half-year and full-year results 
announcements, interested person transactions of a material nature and matters which are likely to have a 
material impact on the Group’s operating units and/or financial position as well as matters other than in the 
ordinary course of business.

Delegation of Authority to Board Committees (Provision 1.4)

The Board is supported by the Audit Committee (“AC”), Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and Nominating 
Committee (“NC”), (collectively, “Board Committees”). Each Board Committee is chaired by an Independent 
Director and a majority of the members are Independent Directors. Functions of these Board Committees 
including their compositions, authorities and duties are clearly written in its Terms of Reference (“TOR”), which 
have been approved by the Board. The Board accepts that while these Board Committees have the delegated 
power to make decisions, execute actions or make recommendations in their specific areas, the ultimate 
responsibility is vested in the Board. The TOR of each Board Committee is reviewed periodically and any 
change to the TOR will require the approval of the Board.
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Board and Board Committees Meetings and Attendance (Provision 1.5)

The Board conducts scheduled meetings at least four times a year. These meetings are scheduled in advance 
to facilitate the Directors’ planning in view of their on-going commitments. The Board will also meet as and 
when warranted between the scheduled meetings. The Company’s Bye-Laws provide for meetings to be held 
via telephone, electronic or other communication facilities as permit all persons participating in the meetings to 
communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously.

The number of Board and Board Committees meetings as well as general meetings held during FY2024, and 
the attendance of Directors during these meetings, are as follows:

Meetings Board AC NC RC Annual 
General 
Meeting

Special 
General 
Meeting

Total No. of Meetings held 5 4 1 1 1 1

Directors No. of Meetings attended

Hong Qing Liang 4 4(1) 1(1) 1(1) 1 1

Hong Peng You 5 4(1) 1(1) 1(1) 1 1

Lim Cheng Kee(2) 1 1 1 1 1 –

Qiu Qing Yuan(2) 1 1 1 1 1 –

Low See Lien(3) 5 4 1 1 1 1

Koh Boon Chiao(4) 4 3 – – – 1

Tsang Ngo Yin(4) 4 3 – – – 1

Notes:
(1) By invitation.
(2) Mr. Lim Cheng Kee and Mr. Qiu Qing Yuan resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director at the conclusion of the Company’s 

Annual General Meeting held on 29 April 2024.
(3) Mr. Low See Lien was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 January 2024.
(4) Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin were appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director on 15 May 2024.

The Company Secretary and/or his representative(s) will administer, attend and prepare minutes of the Board 
and Board Committees meetings, assist each of the Board’s and Board Committees’ Chairman in ensuring 
that the Board’s and Board Committees’ procedures are followed and reviewed so that the Board and Board 
Committees function effectively, and ensure that the Constitution of the Company and relevant rules and 
regulations, including those of the SGX-ST (including the Listing Rules), are complied with.

When a Director has multiple board representations, the NC will consider whether or not the Director is able 
to and has adequately carried out his/her duties as a Director of the Company, taking into consideration the 
Director’s number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments. In support of 
their candidature for directorship or re-election, Directors are to provide the NC with details of their other 
commitments and an indication of the time involved. The Board and the NC have established a guideline on the 
maximum number of listed company directorships that each Director is allowed to hold, and this guideline can 
be found under Provision 4.5 of this report.
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Access to Information (Provision 1.6)

All agendas for the Board and Board Committees meetings are reviewed by the Chairman of the Board and 
the respective Board Committees. Detailed Board papers and/or other information are forwarded to the 
Directors before each meeting with sufficient time for their review and consideration. The Board papers include 
sufficient information from Management on financial, business and corporate issues to enable Directors to be 
properly briefed on issues to be considered at Board and Board Committees meeting. Management is invited 
to attend the meetings to present information and/or render clarification when required. Directors may request 
for explanations, briefings by or discussions with Management on any aspect of the Group’s operations or 
business. When circumstances require, Board members exchange views outside the formal environment of 
Board meetings.

Access to Management and Company Secretaries (Provision 1.7)

The Board has separate and independent access to Management, the Company Secretary, External Auditors 
and external advisers as and when required to seek advices and obtain additional information to facilitate their 
decision making, at the expense of the Company.

The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary is a decision of the Board as a whole.

The Company Secretary will administer, attend and prepare minutes of the Board and the Board Committees 
meetings, assist each of the Board and the Board Committees Chairman in ensuring that the Board’s and 
the Board Committees’ procedures are followed and reviewed so that the Board and the Board Committees 
function effectively, and ensures that the Company’s Constitution and relevant rules and regulations, including 
those of the Companies Act and the SGX-ST, are complied with. The Company Secretary ensures the quality, 
quantity and timeliness of the flow of information within the Board and the Board Committees, and between 
Management and Independent Directors, and advises the Board on all corporate governance matters, facilitates 
orientation, and assists with professional development as and when required.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle 2:  The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in 
its composition to enable it to make decision in the best interests of the company.

Independent Directors and Non-Executive Directors comprise a majority on the Board (Provisions 2.1 to 
2.3)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors, three (3) of whom are Independent 
Directors and two (2) are Executive Directors. The Independent Directors make up a majority of the Board.

The current composition of the Board is as follows:

Board AC NC RC

Executive Directors

Hong Qing Liang
– Executive Chairman

– – –

Hong Peng You – – –

Independent Directors

Low See Lien
– Lead Independent Director

Chairman Member Member

Koh Boon Chiao Member Member Chairman

Tsang Ngo Yin Member Chairman Member
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As a Group, the Directors bring with them a broad range of expertise and experience in areas such as 
accounting and finance, business and management experience, industry knowledge, strategic planning 
experience, industry’s customer-based marketing and manufacturing combined provides core competencies 
necessary to lead and govern the Group effectively. Each Director has been appointed based on the strength 
of his calibre, experience, industry knowledge and expertise, grasp of corporate strategy and potential to 
contribute to the Group and its business. The diversity of the Directors’ experience allows for the useful 
exchange of ideas and views during discussions.

Having assessed the size and composition of the Board and Board Committees, the NC, with the concurrence 
of the Board, is of the view that the current size and composition of the Board is adequate, taking into account 
the scope of the Group’s operations.

None of the Directors has an alternate Director. All Directors are expected to be able to commit time to the 
affairs of the Company, the NC will generally not support the appointment of an alternate Director.

The Board assesses the independence of Independent Directors in accordance with the requirements of the 
Code to ensure appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition 
to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the Group.

Under the Code, an Independent Director is one who is independent in conduct, character and judgment, 
and has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers 
that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent 
business judgment in the best interests of the Company.

Board Composition and Diversity (Provision 2.4)

The Board endeavours to achieve the balance and diversity necessary to maximise its effectiveness as part 
of its Board diversity policy which endorses the principle that its Board should have the balance of skills, 
knowledge, experience and other aspects of diversity that support the Company in the pursuit of its strategic 
and business objectives, and its sustainable development. The policy seeks to promote the inclusion of 
different perspectives, ideas and insights and ensure that the Company can benefit from all available sources 
of talent.

In determining the optimum composition and size of the Board and each Board committee, the Board’s 
diversity policy provides for the NC to consider a combination of factors such as skills, knowledge, professional 
experience, educational background, gender, age, and length of service. The skills, knowledge and experience 
to be considered include accounting and finance, business and management experience, industry knowledge, 
strategic planning experience, industry’s customer-based marketing and manufacturing combined.

Suitable candidates will then be identified, including through external search firms and the Director’s network. 
External search firms that are engaged, are instructed that diversity is a key criterion in the search and in 
particular, gender diversity. Female candidates are therefore required to be included for consideration.

Following its assessment of the candidates, the NC will then interview the short-listed candidates. The NC 
will thereafter make its recommendations to the Board including appointments to the appropriate Board 
committees after matching the candidates’ skills-set to the needs of each Board committee. The Board, taking 
into account the views of the NC, will consider if the Directors meet the criteria under its Board diversity policy 
and possess the necessary competencies to govern the Company effectively.

The Board also aims to achieve gender diversity by FY2024. The Board will work closely with the NC to identify 
and evaluate potential candidates who meet the diversity criteria when appointing new director(s) or Board 
renewal.
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The Board also recognizes that gender diversity is only one aspect of Board diversity. In terms of qualifications 
and competencies, members of the Board include seasoned professionals in finance, business and 
management and strategic planning. The Board believes that its members’ different backgrounds, experience, 
age, gender, tenure of service, and skill sets provide a diversity of perspectives which contribute to the quality 
of its decision-making. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the candidate will 
bring to the Board. The profiles of the Directors are on pages 39 and 40 and 11 of the Annual Report.

Considering the gender diversity criteria, core competencies and skillsets required amongst others, the NC, 
together with the Board evaluated potential candidates and appointed Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin, as the Company’s 
female Independent Non-Executive Director, fulfilling the Company’s commitment to achieving its diversity 
target of gender diversity.

The Company remains committed to implementing its Board diversity policy and any further progress made 
towards the implementation of such policy will be disclosed in future Corporate Governance Reports, as 
appropriate.

Meeting of Independent Directors without Management (Provision 2.5)

The Independent Directors, led by Mr. Low See Lien, the Lead Independent Director, meet without the presence 
of Management as and when the circumstances warrant. In FY2024, the Independent Directors met regularly 
(without the presence of Management) both formally and informally, to discuss the remuneration packages and 
incentives for the Executive Directors and KMP, feedback from the External Auditors and other matters. The 
Lead Independent Director will provide feedback and recommendations arising from these meetings to the 
Board and Chairman as appropriate.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle 3:  There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, 
and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision making.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) (Provision 3.1)

The Chairman and the CEO are separate persons. The role of Chairman is held by Mr. Hong Qing Liang while 
the role of CEO is held by Mr. Hong Qing Liang’s son, Mr. Hong Shao Lin.

All major proposals and decisions made by the Executive Chairman and CEO are discussed and reviewed 
by the AC. Their performance and appointment are reviewed periodically by the NC and the remuneration 
packages are reviewed periodically by the RC. As the AC, NC and RC consist of all Independent directors, the 
Board believes that there are sufficient strong and independent elements and adequate safeguards in place 
against a possible concentration of power and authority that a familial relationship exists between the Executive 
Chairman and the CEO.

Roles of Chairman and CEO (Provision 3.2)

As the Executive Chairman of the Board, Mr. Hong Qing Liang bears responsibility for the effective workings 
of the Board. He ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the Board meeting agenda. 
The Executive Chairman reviews all Board papers before they are presented to the Board and ensures that 
procedures are in place to provide Directors with timely and comprehensive analyses necessary for exercising 
informed judgement and decisions. Management staff who have prepared the papers, or who can provide 
additional insight in the matters to be discussed, are sometimes invited to attend and present the papers at the 
Board meeting. The Executive Chairman also ensures that the members of the Board work together with the 
Management team, and have the capability and moral authority to engage Management in constructive debate 
on various matters, including strategic issues and business planning processes. The day-to-day management 
functions are performed by senior Management, headed by the CEO.
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As the CEO, Mr. Hong Shao Lin is responsible for the day-to-day management affairs and business operations 
of the Group. He also ensures that all corporate policies are properly complied with.

Appointment of Lead Independent Director (Provision 3.3)

As recommended by the Code, the Board has appointed Mr. Low See Lien as the Lead Independent Director 
of the Company, to provide leadership in circumstances where the Chairman is conflicted. Mr. Low See 
Lien is available to shareholders where they have concerns or issues that are not appropriately dealt with by 
the Chairman or the CEO. Shareholders may contact the Lead Independent Director, Mr. Low See Lien at 
seelienlow@gmail.com when they have concerns which contact through the normal channels of the Executive 
Directors has failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle 4:  The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of 
directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

Composition of the Nominating Committee (Provision 4.2)

As at the date of this report, the NC comprises three (3) members, all of whom (including the NC Chairman) are 
Independent Directors. The members of the NC are as follows:

Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin (Chairman)
Mr. Koh Boon Chiao
Mr. Low See Lien

Role and Responsibilities of the Nominating Committee (Provision 4.1)

The principal duties and responsibilities of the NC as provided in its TOR are as follows:

(a) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, gender, age, qualifications, experience 
and diversity) of the Board and Board Committees;

(b) identifying and nominating candidates to fill Board vacancies as they occur;

(c) recommending membership of the Board Committees to the Board;

(d) determining annually the independence of the Directors, bearing in mind the circumstances set forth in 
the Code, Listing Rules of the SGX-ST and any other salient factors;

(e) evaluating Board’s performance as a whole, Board Committees and individual Directors;

(f) making recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments, re-appointments and re-elections to 
the Board (including alternate director, if any), depending on the Director’s performance, commitment 
and his/her ability to continue contributing to the Board;

(g) reviewing and evaluating whether a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as 
a Director, particularly, when he has multiple board representations;

(h) overseeing induction, orientation, training and professional development programmes for the Board and 
its Directors;

(i) reviewing and ensuring there is clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO;
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(j) reviewing succession plans for the directors, in particular the appointment and/or replacement of the 
Chairman, the CEO and KMP; and

(k) undertaking such other functions and duties as may be delegated by the Board.

For FY2024, the NC reviewed the Board composition, determined the independence of Directors, conducted 
Board, Board Committees’ and Individual Directors’ performance evaluation, reviewed Directors’ commitments 
when they have multiple board representations.

Process for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors (Provision 4.3)

The NC has adopted a process for the selection and appointment of new Directors. In selecting potential 
new Directors, the NC will seek to identify the competencies required to enable the Board to fulfil its 
responsibilities. External professional help or tagging on the Directors’ network may be used to source for 
potential candidates. The curriculum vitae and other particulars or documents of the nominee or candidate will 
be given to NC for consideration. The NC will evaluate the suitability of the nominee or candidate based on his 
or her qualifications, business and related experience, commitment, ability to contribute to the Board process 
and such qualities and attributes that may be required by the Board. The NC will also meet with the potential 
candidate before making the nomination to the Board for appointment as Director.

Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws provides that each Director shall retire at least once every three (3) 
years. In addition, Bye-Law 85(6) of the Company’s Bye-Laws provides that any person so appointed by the 
Board retire at the next AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Mr. Hong Qing Liang shall be retiring pursuant to Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws 
whereas Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin shall be retiring pursuant to Bye-Law 85(6) of the 
Company’s Bye-Laws at the forthcoming AGM (“Retiring Directors”). The Retiring Directors have consented 
for re-appointment following their retirement at the forthcoming AGM.

The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that the Retiring Directors are properly qualified for re-appointment by 
virtue of their skills, experience and contributions.

Accordingly, the NC has recommended to the Board that Mr. Hong Qing Liang be nominated for re-election 
pursuant to Bye-Law 86 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, whereas Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin be 
nominated for re-election pursuant to Bye-Law 85(6) of the Company’s Bye-Laws at the forthcoming AGM. The 
Board has accepted the NC’s recommendation. Details of the Retiring Directors are found in TABLE A set out 
on pages 63 to 73 of this Annual Report.

The Retiring Directors have abstained from deliberation on the matter regarding their re-election and retirement 
as a Director of the Company.

The key information regarding Directors such as their academic and professional qualifications, Board 
Committees on which they have served on, directorships or chairmanships both present and past held over the 
preceding three (3) years in other listed companies and other major appointments, whether the appointment is 
executive or non-executive, is set out below. Information on the shareholdings of the Directors in the Company 
and its subsidiaries can be found on page 74 of this Annual Report.
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Determining Directors’ Independence (Provision 4.4)

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC with the recommendations set out in the 
Code and the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST. For FY2024, the NC reviewed the independence of Mr. Low See 
Lien, Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin.

Having conducted rigorous review, the Board, with the concurrence of the NC, considered Mr. Low See Lien, 
Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin to be independent after having determined that they have no 
relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its 5% shareholders or its officers that could interfere, 
or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent business judgment 
with a view to the best interest of the Company. Mr. Low See Lien, Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. Tsang Ngo 
Yin have throughout their appointment, demonstrated strong independence in character and judgment in the 
discharge of their duties and responsibilities as directors of the Company. They have continued to express their 
individual viewpoints, debated issues and objectively challenged Management on business decisions with a 
view to the best interests of the Group.

Each of the Independent Directors abstained from discussion and voting in respect of his independence.

Directors’ other directorships and principal commitments (Provision 4.5)

Pursuant to its TOR, the NC is required to determine if a Director has been adequately carrying out his duties 
as a Director of the Company, particularly if he has multiple Board representations. In view of this, the NC 
having considered the confirmations received from Mr. Low See Lien, Mr. Koh Boon Chiao and Ms. Tsang 
Ngo Yin concluded that such multiple Board representations do not hinder each Director from carrying out his 
duties as a Director of the Company.

In consultation with the NC, the Board has prescribed that each Independent Director should not hold more 
than five (5) directorships in other public listed companies. The NC had reviewed and was satisfied that no 
Independent Director had exceeded the maximum limit of listed company board representations in FY2024 
and that each Director had given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group and has been able to 
diligently discharged his duties as a Director of the Company.

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5:  The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each 
of its board committees and individual directors.

Assessing the effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and Individual Directors (Provisions 5.1 and 
5.2)

The Board has, through the NC, adopted a process to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, 
each Board Committee separately and the individual Directors. The evaluations are carried out by means of 
completing the relevant questionnaire forms by each Director on an annual basis and the results will be collated 
by the Company Secretary to be presented to the NC. The findings from the evaluations were analysed and 
discussed with a view to implementing certain recommendations to further enhance the effectiveness of the 
Board and Board Committees.

The Board and Board Committees’ evaluation cover amongst others, the size and composition of the Board 
and Board Committees, the accessibility of the Board to information, Board and Board Committees processes 
and accountability in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities and standards of conduct of the Board 
members.

Individual Directors’ assessment was also conducted in FY2024 whereby each Director was evaluated on his 
contributions to the Board, initiative, knowledge of senior management’s job scope and Group’s business, 
leadership and the support that he lends to Management in steering the Group.
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For FY2024, the performance evaluation of the Board, Board Committees and Individual Directors was carried 
out in February 2025. Following the review of the assessment, the NC was generally satisfied with the Board, 
Board Committees and Individual Directors performance evaluation results which indicated areas of strengths 
and those that could be improved further. No significant issues had been identified. The NC had discussed the 
results with Board members who agreed to work on area that could be improved further.

The NC did not engage any external facilitator to assist in the annual performance evaluation exercise for 
FY2024.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Principle 6:  The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on Director and 
Executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and key management 
personnel. No Director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

Composition of the Remuneration Committee (Provision 6.2)

The RC comprises the following three (3) Independent Directors:

Mr. Koh Boon Chiao (Chairman)
Mr. Low See Lien
Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin

Role and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee (Provision 6.1)

The principal duties and responsibilities of the RC as provided in its TOR are as follows:

(a) reviewing and recommending to the Board a general framework of remuneration for the Board and KMP 
and to recommend to the Board the specific remuneration packages and terms of employment for:

• each Director and KMP of the Group;

• employees related to Directors, CEO or controlling shareholders of the Group;

• reviewing Directors’ fees, which are subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM; and

• the service contracts of the CEO and Executive Directors. In the event of termination of Executive 
Directors and KMP’s service contracts, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair and 
reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous.

(b) reviewing all aspects of remuneration, including terminating terms, to ensure they are fair;

(c) recommending to the Board long-term initiative schemes which may be set up from time to time; and

(d) undertaking such other functions and duties as may be delegated by the Board.

Remuneration Framework (Provision 6.3)

There is a formal and transparent process for developing executive remuneration and for determining the 
remuneration packages of individual Directors. No Director is involved in determining his own remuneration.

The RC reviews all matters concerning the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors to ensure that 
remuneration commensurate with their contributions, responsibilities and market benchmarks.



52 FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

 

None of the Independent Directors has service contracts or consultancy arrangements with the Company. 
They are paid Directors’ fees based on a structured fee framework reflecting the responsibilities and time 
commitment of each Director.

The annual quantum of Directors’ fees to be paid is also reviewed by the RC and the Board before submission 
to shareholders for approval at the Company’s AGM.

The RC also reviews the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and the Chief Executive Officer 
and submits its recommendations to the Board for endorsement. The RC will look at the total remuneration 
provided which comprises annual fixed salary and variable salary component. The variable salary component is 
in the form of a variable bonus that is linked to the performance of the Group and the individual’s performance.

The RC also reviews the Company’s obligations under the service agreements of the Executive Directors and 
the Chief Executive Officer that would arise in the event of termination of these service agreements to ensure 
that such service agreements contain fair and reasonable termination clauses.

RC access to expert professional advice (Provision 6.4)

The RC has access to expert professional advice if there is a need to consult externally taking in consideration 
of the industry’s practices and norms in determining compensation. No external consultant was engaged in 
FY2024.

LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle 7:  The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are 
appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the Company, taking into 
account the strategic objectives of the Company.

Remuneration of Executive Directors and KMP (Provisions 7.1 and 7.3)

The remuneration packages are set adequately but not excessively remunerated compared to other comparable 
companies in the industry in view of present market conditions such that it is appropriate to attract, retain 
and motivate the Directors to provide good stewardship of the Company and KMP to successfully manage 
the Company for the long-term. The remuneration policy adopted takes into account the individual’s 
responsibilities, skills, expertise as well as the Group’s performance.

The Executive Directors’ and KMP (which includes the CEO) respective service agreements detailed his 
remuneration packages as well as an automatic one-year renewal clause (unless otherwise terminated by 
either party giving not less than three (3) months’ notice to the other). The performance bonus of the Executive 
Directors and KMP are linked to the Group’s performance which will be reviewed by the RC before submission 
to the Board for approval. As the Executive Directors and KMP are rewarded based on their achievement 
of certain key performance indicators and the actual results of the Group, and not on any other assigned 
incentives, there are no provisions in their service agreements. The RC will when appropriate, review the need 
to adopt provisions allowing the Company to reclaim incentive components of remuneration from Executive 
Directors and KMP in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results or of misconduct resulting 
in financial loss to the Group.

The RC will carry out an annual review of the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and KMP to 
ensure that a significant and appropriate proportion of their remuneration is structured so as to link rewards 
to corporate and individual performance, giving due regard to the financial health and business needs of the 
Group, and align with the interest of the shareholders and other stakeholders and promote long-term success 
of the Group.

The RC after having reviewed, is satisfied with the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and 
KMP and recommended the same for Board approval. The Board had approved the RC’s recommendation 
accordingly.
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Remuneration of Independent Directors/Non-Executive Directors (Provision 7.2)

The RC is mindful that remuneration for the Independent Directors should not be excessive, as it may otherwise 
compromise or reasonably be perceived to compromise, the independence of the Independent Directors. 
After taking into account factors such as effort and time spent and their roles and responsibilities, the RC, 
with the concurrence of the Board, is of the view that the current remuneration of the Independent Directors is 
appropriate to their level of contributions, and would not compromise their independence.

Directors’ Fees

The RC has recommended to the Board the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to S$118,928 for FY2025 
(2024: S$111,695), payable half-yearly in arrears.

The recommendation will be tabled at the forthcoming AGM for shareholders’ approval. Each of the Directors 
has abstained from voting in respect of their own remuneration. The RC members has also abstained from 
deliberation and voting in respect of their own remuneration.

The Company does not have any share option or long-term incentive scheme in place.

DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle 8:  The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the 
procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value 
creation.

Disclosure of the remuneration of Directors and KMP (Provisions 8.1 and 8.3)

The breakdown of each individual Director’s remuneration for FY2024 is as follows:

Name of Directors Salary Bonus
Director’s

fees
Other

benefits Total

Total 
remuneration 

(S$’000)       

Hong Qing Liang 90% – 10% – 100% 53
Hong Peng You 93% – 7% – 100% 71
Lim Cheng Kee – – 100% – 100% 14
Qiu Qing Yuan – – 100% – 100% 8
Low See Lien – – 100% – 100% 41
Koh Boon Chiao – – 100% – 100% 25
Tsang Ngo Yin – – 100% – 100% 11
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Details of remuneration paid to top five (5) KMP of the Group (who are not Directors) for FY2024 are set out 
below:

Name of KMP Salary Bonus Other benefits Total

Total 
remuneration 

(S$’000)      

Hong Shao Lin 
– Chief Executive Officer

100% – – 100% 181

Hong Shui Ku 
– Chief of Operations

100% – – 100% 21

Ye Mu Gui – Production Manager 100% – – 100% 46
Zhang Shang Lian 

– Sales and Marketing Manager
100% – – 100% 75

Lei Zhen Min 
– Assistant General Manager

100% – – 100% 72

The aggregate remuneration paid to the top five (5) KMP (who are not Directors) for FY2024 amounted to 
S$394,137.

There are no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted to the CEO, the 
Directors and the top five (5) KMP (who are not Directors).

Taking into account the disclosure of the exact remuneration of the Directors and KMP and the aggregate 
remuneration paid to KMP, the Board has determined that there is sufficient transparency and information 
on the remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration and the 
relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation consistent with the intent of Principle 8 of 
the Code.

Disclosure of the remuneration of employees who are substantial shareholders of the Company, 
immediate family members of a Director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the Company (Provision 
8.2)

Employees who are immediate family members of a Director, the CEO or controlling shareholders during the 
year under review are as follows:

(i) Mr. Hong Shao Lin, son of Mr. Hong Qing Liang (Executive Chairman of the Company), who is employed 
as Chief Executive Officer of the Company;

(ii) Ms. Hong Yan Ru, daughter of Mr. Hong Qing Liang, who is employed as Project Manager of the Group; 
and

(iii) Madam Zeng Li Ming, spouse of Mr. Hong Peng You (an Executive Director of the Company), who is 
employed as Accounts cum Administrator of the Group.

Save for Mr. Hong Shao Lin whose remuneration amounted to approximately S$181,000 (disclosed above), 
none of the above-mentioned employees’ remuneration exceeded S$100,000 for FY2024.
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(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle 9:  The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a 
sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the Company and its 
shareholders.

Design, implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control systems and formation 
of a Board Risk Committee to address significant risks (Provision 9.1)

The Board has overall responsibility for the risk management and internal controls of the Group. The Board 
determines the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Company is willing to take in achieving 
its strategic objectives and value creation to ensure that Management maintains a sound system of risk 
management and internal controls to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

The Board, assisted by the AC, evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls and 
risk management system. The Group does not have a separate Risk Management Committee. In line with 
recommendations of the Code on internal controls and risk management, the Board has designated Mr. Hong 
Shui Ku, the Chief of Operations of the Group to oversee the risk management of the Group.

The Group’s Internal and External Auditors have, during the course of their respective audits, conducted 
an annual review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls (including financial, 
operational, compliance and information technology controls) and risk management policies and systems 
established by Management. Any non-compliance or weaknesses in internal controls recommended for 
improvements are reported to the AC. The AC will also review the effectiveness of the actions taken by 
Management on the recommendations made by the Internal and External Auditors and ensures that there 
are follow-up actions on the implementation. The adequacy and effectiveness of the internal financial control 
systems and procedures at present are monitored by Management.

The Board recognises that no internal controls system will preclude all errors and irregularities as a system is 
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objects, and can provide only 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For FY2024, the Group’s Internal Auditors were also engaged to review the Group’s business and operational 
activities and identify areas of significant business risks as well as take appropriate measures to control and 
mitigate these risks. On an annual basis, the Internal Auditors’ report and the risk management report are 
presented to the AC on significant matters arising from the said review and counter measures to mitigate the 
identified risks potential risks. There were no material deficiencies arising from the review.

Written assurance on adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls (Provision 9.2)

The Board has received written assurance from:

(a) the CEO and Director of Finance and Administration that the financial records have been properly 
maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s operations and 
finances; and

(b) the CEO and other KMP who are responsible, regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management and internal control systems.

Based on the reviews conducted by the Internal Auditors and External Auditors, written assurance of 
Management, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the internal controls and risk 
management systems addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls are 
adequate and effective.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle 10:  The Board has an Audit Committee which discharges its duties objectively.

Composition of the Audit Committee (Provision 10.2)

The AC comprises the following three (3) Independent Directors:

Mr. Low See Lien (Chairman)
Mr. Koh Boon Chiao
Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin

Expertise of AC members

The Board is of the view that the AC members have the relevant expertise to discharge the functions of an AC. 
A majority of the AC members bring with them recent and relevant accounting or related financial management 
expertise or experience, which are appropriately qualified to discharge its duties objectively. Reasonable 
resources have been made available to the AC to enable them to discharge their duties. The AC members also 
take measures to keep abreast of the changes to accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact 
on financial statements through attendance at trainings and updates by professionals and the Company’s 
External Auditors.

Former partner or Director of the Company’s existing auditing firm (Provision 10.3)

In compliance with the Code, none of the AC members was a former partner of the Company’s existing 
External Auditors within the previous two years or has any financial interest in the firm.

Duties of AC and activities of the AC (Provision 10.1)

The AC met four (4) times in FY2024, and as and when deem appropriate, to carry out its principal functions as 
provided in its TOR:

(a) reviews the half year and full year financial statements of the Group before submission to the Board 
for approval, focusing in particular, on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk 
areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with 
accounting standards as well as compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements;

(b) reviews with the External Auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of 
any relevant laws, rules or regulation, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s 
operating results or financial position, and Management’s responses thereto;

(c) reviews and approves the internal and external audit plans and results of their audits and 
recommendations as well as Management’s responses thereto;

(d) reviews the assistance given by Management to the Internal and External Auditors to facilitate their audits 
and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters which the auditors may 
wish to discuss (in the absence of Management at least once a year and where necessary);

(e) reviews and approves the appointment or re-appointment of Internal and External Auditors and matters 
relating to resignation or dismissal of the auditors;

(f) reviews interested person transactions;

(g) reviews annually the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness as well as the independence 
and objectivity of the External Auditors annually;
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(h) reviews the effectiveness and adequacy of internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology controls and risk management system;

(i) ensures that arrangements are in place for staff of the Group and any other persons may, in confidence, 
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or, other matters;

(j) reviews potential conflicts of interests, if any;

(k) undertakes such other functions and duties as may be required by the statute or the Listing Rules of the 
SGX-ST;

(l) meets with the External Auditors and Internal Auditors without the presence of Management to discuss 
the results of their findings and communicated with the Internal Auditors to discuss their evaluation of the 
Group’s internal controls and risk management systems, set out in their respective reports;

(m) ascertains that both the Internal and External Auditors have had the full co-operation of Management in 
carrying out their audits of the Group;

(n) keeps abreast of accounting standards and issues that could potentially impact financial reporting 
through updates and advice from the External Auditors;

(o) ensures that Company had complied with Rule 712 of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST in relation to the 
appointment of a suitable auditing firm to meet its audit obligations. RT LLP, the appointed External 
Auditors of the Group, is registered with Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority and is a member 
of RT ASEAN.

Together with the Audit Engagement Partner and his team assigned to the particular audit, the AC was 
satisfied that the resources and experience of RT LLP, the Audit Engagement Partner and his team 
assigned to the audit were adequate to meet their obligations, given the size, nature and operations of 
the Group;

(p) ensures that the Company had complied with Rule 715 of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST in relation 
to the appointment of the same auditing firm based in Singapore to audit its accounts, its significant 
foreign-incorporated subsidiaries;

(q) reviews interested person transactions;

(r) reviews the implementing process of the Company’s sustainability report; and

(s) reviews the whistle-blowing policy.

The AC has the requisite powers to conduct or authorise investigation into any of the above-mentioned matters. 
The AC has full access to and co-operation by Management and also has full discretion to invite any Director 
or Management to attend its meetings as well as reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its duties and 
functions properly.

Independence of External Auditors

Audit services rendered by the External Auditors amounted to S$320,000 for the FY2024 audit. In FY2024, 
the External Auditors was engaged to assist in drafting the Sustainability Report for S$20,000. Apart from the 
aforementioned, no other non-audit services were rendered by the External Auditors.

The AC has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the External Auditors and is satisfied with the 
independence of the External Auditors. The External Auditors have also affirmed their independence in this 
respect.
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Key Audit Matters

In the review of the Group’s FY2024 financial statements, the AC has discussed with Management and the 
External Auditors on significant issues and assumptions that impact the financial statements. The significant 
financial reporting matters have also been identified and included in the Independent Auditors’ Report to the 
shareholders of the Company under “Key Audit Matters”.

The AC had reviewed the key audit matters and concurred with the audit procedures adopted by the 
External Auditors as well as Management’s assessment, and is satisfied that the key audit matters have been 
appropriately dealt with and recommendation was made by the AC to the Board to approve the financial 
statements.

Whistleblowing Policy

The AC has also put in place a whistleblowing policy on financial improprieties or other matters whereby staff 
of the Group and any other persons may raise in confidence and ensure that arrangements are in place of 
independent investigations of such matters and follow up actions. Complaints or suspicion of impropriety can 
be made in the form of emails or telephone to the AC Chairman.

The AC Chairman who receives the report will assess the allegations to determine whether it warrants an 
investigation. Investigators will be designated by the AC Chairman. All reported whistleblowing incidents or 
concerns will be independently investigated and remedial actions will be taken to address the whistleblowing 
incidents. Identity of the whistleblower will be kept highly confidential. No disciplinary or personal action will be 
taken against the whistleblower for the allegations made in good faith and in absence of malice. There were no 
whistleblowing incidents received in FY2024.

Internal Audit (Provision 10.4)

The Group has outsourced its internal audit function to an external audit firm, Xiamen De Cheng Accounting 
Co. Ltd (the “Internal Auditor”), in the PRC. The AC approves the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation 
of the accounting/auditing firm to which the internal audit function is outsourced. The Internal Auditor reports 
directly to the AC Chairman on internal audit matters and to the CEO on administrative matters. The role of the 
Internal Auditor is to assist the AC to ensure that the Group maintains a sound system of internal controls by 
regular monitoring key controls and procedures and ensuring their effectiveness, undertaking investigations as 
directed by the AC, and conducting regular in-depth audits of high-risk areas.

The annual internal audit plan is prepared in consultation with, but independent of Management, and submitted 
to the AC for approval. The AC ensures that the internal audit function has appropriate standing within the 
Company. The Internal Auditor reports directly to the AC and the findings and recommendations made have 
been adequately followed through and implemented by Management in the financial year. The AC participates 
in and approves the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the internal audit function. The Internal 
Auditor is given unfettered access to all company documents, records, properties and personnel, including 
access to the AC. The adequacy and effectiveness of the outsourced internal audit function is reviewed 
by the AC at least annually. In doing so, the AC takes into consideration the service level, attentiveness, 
professionalism and calibre of the assigned personnel who carried out the internal audit activities during the 
financial year. The AC is satisfied that the internal audit function is independent, adequately resourced and 
effective.
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Meeting with External Auditor and Internal Auditor (Provision 10.5)

For FY2024, the AC met with the External and Internal Auditors without the presence of Management to 
discuss any issues they may have (including suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any 
applicable law, rules or regulations) which has, or is likely to have, a material impact on the Group’s operating 
results or financial position and Management’s response thereof.

Both the External and Internal Auditors confirmed that they had access to and received full co-operation and 
assistance from Management and no restrictions were placed on the scope of their audit.

(D) SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Principle 11:  The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise 
shareholders’  rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the Company. 
The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position and 
prospects.

Participation of shareholders at general meetings (Provision 11.1)

In line with its continuing disclosure obligations, the Group is committed to maintaining regular and pro-active 
communication with shareholders.

The Company is aware of its obligations to shareholders in providing information regarding any changes in the 
Group’s business which would likely to materially affect the price or value of the Company’s shares.

The Group monitors the dissemination of material information to ensure that it is made publicly available on 
a timely and non-selective basis. Results and annual report are announced within the mandatory period via 
SGXNet. The Company does not practice selective disclosure.

The Company’s principal forum of dialogue with shareholders takes place at its general meetings. Shareholders 
are invited to attend shareholders’ meetings to put forth any questions they may have on the motions to be 
debated and decided upon. The notice of AGM or Special General Meeting (“SGM”) (as the case may be) is 
despatched to shareholders, together with explanatory notes, at least 14 or 21 days before the meeting (as the 
case may be). Each item under Special Business included in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where 
appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolutions. At the shareholders’ meetings, shareholders are 
given the opportunity to voice their views and seek clarification on issues relating to the business as outlined in 
the meeting agenda.

Separate resolutions at general meetings on each substantially separate issue (Provision 11.2)

At shareholders’ meetings, each distinct issue is proposed as a separate resolution. The Company adheres to 
the requirements of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST, all resolutions at the Company’s shareholders’ meetings 
are put to vote by poll. The detailed results showing the number of votes cast for and against each resolution 
are announced via SGXNet after the meetings.

Attendance at general meetings (Provision 11.3)

All Directors, including the Chairman of the Board and the respective Chairmen of AC, RC and NC, as well as 
External Auditors will endeavor to be present at the shareholders’ meetings to address shareholders’ queries on 
issues relevant to the Company and resolutions proposed at the AGMs. The Directors’ attendances at general 
meetings of shareholders held in FY2024 are disclosed on page 44 of the Annual Report.
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Following the legislative amendments and taking into account SGX guidance, the forthcoming AGM to be 
held in respect of FY2024 will be convened and held in a wholly-physical format. Shareholders will not be 
able to participate by way of electronic means at the forthcoming AGM. Further information regarding the 
arrangements for the forthcoming AGM are set out in the Notice of AGM on pages 152 to 156 of this Annual 
Report. In order to facilitate shareholders’ votes and to allow shareholders to make an informed decision on the 
resolutions to be tabled at the relevant general meeting, the Company addressed all substantial and relevant 
questions received from shareholders in advance of the relevant general meeting (by the deadline announced 
by the Company for submission of questions in advance), by publishing its responses to such questions on 
the Company’s website and on SGXNET before the deadline for the submission of proxy forms, in line with 
regulatory guidance.

Absentia voting (Provision 11.4)

If any shareholder is unable to attend, he/she is allowed to appoint up to two (2) proxies to vote on his/her 
behalf at the meeting through proxy forms. The duly completed proxy form is required to be deposited at the 
Group’s share transfer agent’s office or sent by email to the Company at least seventy-two (72) hours before 
the shareholders’ meeting. The Company is not implementing absentia voting methods such as voting via mail, 
email or fax until security, integrity and other pertinent issues are satisfactorily resolved. An exception is made 
for the forthcoming AGM to be held in respect of FY2024, at which shareholders shall be allowed to submit 
their proxy forms via electronic means.

Minutes of general meetings (Provision 11.5)

Minutes of general meetings prepared by the Company Secretary records substantial and relevant comments 
or queries from Shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting, and responses from the Board and 
Management. In addition, the minutes of general meetings are also published on SGXNet within one (1) month 
after the general meetings. Minutes of the upcoming AGM will accordingly be published within one (1) month 
after the AGM on SGXNet.

Dividend Policy (Provision 11.6)

The Company does not have a formal dividend policy. The Company takes into account the Group’s operating 
results, financial position, working capital requirements and any other relevant considerations as the Board may 
deem appropriate. No dividend was proposed by the Board for FY2024 as the Company intends to conserve 
cash for its operational needs.

ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 12:  The Company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of 
shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views on 
various matters affecting the company:

Communication with shareholders (Provision 12.1)

The Company believes that a high standard of disclosure is key to good corporate governance. The Company 
endeavours to provide shareholders with fair, relevant, comprehensive and timely information regarding 
financial results and other material information relating to the Group.

To enable shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions, shareholders are notified in 
advance of the date of release of the Group’s financial results through announcement on SGXNet.
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During FY2024, information was communicated to the shareholders on a timely and non-selective basis 
through:

(a) SGXNET announcements;

(b) half year and full year financial statements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs 
of the Group via SGXNet;

(c) annual reports; and

(d) notices and explanatory notes for shareholders’ meetings.

Investor Relations (Provisions 12.2 and 12.3)

The Board embraces openness and transparency in the conduct of Company’s affairs, whilst safeguarding 
its commercial interests. The Company has in place an Investor Relations Policy which the Company formally 
adopted in February 2025, which sets out the process and mechanism to engage its shareholders, including 
the channel of communication for questions to be posed by shareholders and through which the Company 
may respond accordingly. Shareholders can provide their enquiries and feedback to the Company via email 
feedback to oilinfxcg@gmail.com. Latest news and developments about the Company are available at the 
Company’s website at http://www.3fzipper.com.

(E) MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Principle 13:  The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of 
material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the Company are 
served.

Material stakeholder groups (Provision 13.1)

The Board recognises the interests of other parties such as shareholders, customers, employees, business 
partners, governments and regulators, suppliers and communities are essential as part of value creation for the 
Group to ensure business is sustainable. The Group has in place a process to identify the major stakeholders, 
their needs and effective communication channels to engage these stakeholders to strike a balance between 
its business and interests of its stakeholders. Effective stakeholder engagement would enhance better 
understanding on their needs and incorporate these into the Group’s corporate strategy.

Management of stakeholder relationships (Provision 13.2)

The Group engages with the key stakeholders through various means. Details of the approach to stakeholder 
engagement have been provided in the Company’s Sustainability Report.

Corporate website to communicate and engage with stakeholders (Provision 13.3)

While the Company does not maintain a corporate website, stakeholders can reach out to the Company 
through email feedback to oilinfxcg@gmail.com.
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(F) DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Group has put in place internal compliance code of conduct to provide guidance to its officers regarding 
dealings in the Company’s securities and implications of insider trading in compliance with Rule 1207(19) of 
the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST. The Company, Directors and Officers are prohibited from dealing in securities 
of the Company two (2) weeks before the release of the quarterly results (whether on a voluntary basis or if so 
required to do so under the relevant Listing Rules of the SGX-ST); otherwise, it will be at least one (1) month 
before the release of the Company’s half-year and full-year results, and at all times if the Directors and Officers 
are in possession of unpublished material price-sensitive information and on short term considerations.

(G) INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPT”)

The Group has established procedures to ensure that IPTs are reported in a timely manner to the AC and such 
transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and are not prejudicial to the interests of the shareholders. 
For the financial year reported on, there were no interested person transactions which exceeded the threshold 
limits set out under Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST and no announcement or shareholders’ 
approval was therefore required.

(H) MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save for the Service Agreements entered into with the Executive Directors and CEO, there was no material 
contract entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interest of the CEO, any Director 
or controlling shareholder of the Company for FY2024.
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Table A

Information on Director nominated for re-election/re-appointment – Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Rules of the 
SGX– ST

Name of Director Mr. Hong Qing Liang (“Mr. Hong”)

Date of Appointment 19 December 2006

Date of last re-Appointment (if applicable) 30 June 2022

Age 63

Country of principal residence China

The Board ’s comments on this appointment 
(including rationale, selection criteria, board diversity 
considerations, and the search and nomination 
process)

The re-election of Mr. Hong as Executive Chairman 
was recommended by the Nominating Committee 
and the Board has accepted the recommendation, 
a f te r  tak ing in to cons iderat ion Mr .  Hong ’s 
contribution to the Group.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area 
of responsibility

Executive.

Mr. Hong is the Group’s Co-Founder and Executive 
Chairman, responsible for formulating our Group’s 
business strategies and initatives.

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member 
etc.)

Executive Chairman

Professional qualifications – Vice President of China Zipper Association
– Chairman of the Zipper Hardware Industry 

Association of Long Hu Town, Jinjiang City

Working experience and occupation(s) during the 
past 10 years

Executive Chairman in the listed issuer since 19 
December 2006.

Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its 
subsidiaries

10,068,460 shares in the listed issuer

Any relat ionship ( including immediate family 
relationships) with any existing director, existing 
executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial 
shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

Nil

Confl ict of interest ( including any competing 
business)

Nil

Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7.7) 
under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed 
issuer

Yes

Other Principal commitments* Including directorships#

* “Principal Commitments” has the same meaning as defined in the Code.
# These fields are not applicable for announcements of appointments pursuant to Rule 704(9) of the 

Listing Rules of the SGX-ST

Past (for the last 5 years) Nil

Present Nil
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Information required

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief 
financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the 
answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of 
any jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time 
when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a 
key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, 
where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud 
or dishonesty which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach 
of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal 
proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?

(f) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil 
proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings 
(including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

(g) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the 
formation or management of any entity or business trust?

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity 
(including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management 
of any entity or business trust?

(i) Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or 
governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business 
practice or activity?
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(j) Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:

(i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, in 
connection with any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so concerned 
with the entity or business trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or 
has been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other 
regulatory authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or 
elsewhere?

Mr. Hong has individually given a negative disclosure on each of the above items (a) to (k).

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only.

Any prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the Exchange? If yes, please provide details of 
prior experience. If no, please state if the director has attended or will be attending training on the roles and 
responsibilities of a director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange.

Please provide details of relevant experience and the nominating committee’s reasons for not requiring the 
director to undergo training as prescribed by the Exchange (if applicable).

Not applicable for Mr. Hong as this is a re-election/re-appointment of director.
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Name of Director Mr. Koh Boon Chiao (“Mr. Koh”)

Date of Appointment 15 May 2024

Date of last re-Appointment (if applicable) N.A.

Age 45

Country of principal residence Singapore

The Board ’s comments on this appointment 
(including rationale, selection criteria, board diversity 
considerations, and the search and nomination 
process)

The re-election of Mr. Koh as Independent Director 
o f  the Company was recommended by the 
Nominating Committee and the Board has accepted 
the recommendation, after taking into consideration 
Mr. Koh’s experience and contribution since he was 
appointed as a Director of the Company.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area 
of responsibility

Non-Executive

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member 
etc.)

Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of 
Remuneration Committee, Member of the Audit 
Committee and Nominating Committee

Professional qualifications – National University of Singapore, Faculty of 
Law Bachelor of Laws, Second Class Honours

– Called to the Singapore Bar

Working experience and occupation(s) during the 
past 10 years

– January 2024-Present– Special Counsel, 
Mishcon de Reya LLP

– May 2022 to December 2023 – General 
Counsel, Yangzijiang Financial Holding Ltd.

– October 2021 to April 2022 – Head of Legal, 
EVYD Research Pte. Ltd. –

– March 2021 to October 2021 – Head of Legal, 
Digitrade Fintech Pte. Ltd.

– August 2020 to March 2021 – Assistant 
General Counsel, MindChamps PreSchool 
Singapore Pte. Ltd.

– March 2019 to August 2020 – Head of Legal, 
ICHX Tech Pte. Ltd.

– March 2018 to February 2019 – Head of Legal, 
TenX Pte. Ltd.

– July 2016 to February 2018 – Assistant Vice 
President, Parkway Pantai Limited

– October 2010 to July 2016 – Senior Associate 
Partner, Rodyk & Davidson LLP
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Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its 
subsidiaries

Nil

Any relat ionship ( including immediate family 
relationships) with any existing director, existing 
executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial 
shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

Nil

Confl ict of interest ( including any competing 
business)

Nil

Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7.7) 
under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed 
issuer

Yes

Other Principal commitments* Including directorships#

* “Principal Commitments” has the same meaning as defined in the Code.
# These fields are not applicable for announcements of appointments pursuant to Rule 704(9) of the 

Listing Rules of the SGX-ST

Past (for the last 5 years) – March-December 2021– Independent Director, 
Camsing Healthcare Limited

– September 2019-August 2022– Independent 
Director, Snack Empire Holdings Limited

Present – March 2025 to Present, AM Group Holdings 
Limited
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Information required

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief 
financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the 
answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of 
any jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time 
when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a 
key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, 
where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud 
or dishonesty which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach 
of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal 
proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?

(f) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil 
proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings 
(including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

(g) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the 
formation or management of any entity or business trust?

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity 
(including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management 
of any entity or business trust?

(i) Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or 
governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business 
practice or activity?
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(j) Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:

(i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, in 
connection with any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so concerned 
with the entity or business trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or 
has been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other 
regulatory authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or 
elsewhere?

Mr. Koh has individually given a negative disclosure on each of the above items (a) to (k).

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only.

Any prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the Exchange? If yes, please provide details of 
prior experience. If no, please state if the director has attended or will be attending training on the roles and 
responsibilities of a director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange.

Please provide details of relevant experience and the nominating committee’s reasons for not requiring the 
director to undergo training as prescribed by the Exchange (if applicable).

Not applicable for Mr. Koh as this is a re-election/re-appointment of director.
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Name of Director Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin (“Ms. Tsang”)

Date of Appointment 15 May 2024

Date of last re-Appointment (if applicable) N.A.

Age 51

Country of principal residence Hong Kong

The Board ’s comments on this appointment 
(including rationale, selection criteria, board diversity 
considerations, and the search and nomination 
process)

The re-election of Ms. Tsang as Independent 
Director of the Company was recommended by the 
Nominating Committee and the Board has accepted 
the recommendation, after taking into consideration 
Ms. Tsang’s experience and contribution since she 
was appointed as a Director of the Company.

Whether appointment is executive, and if so, the area 
of responsibility

Non-Executive

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC Chairman, AC Member 
etc.)

Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman 
of Nominating Committee, Member of the Audit 
Committee and Remuneration Committee

Professional qualifications – Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration, 
Simon Fraser University, Canada

– Bachelor’s Degree in Law, Tsinghua University, 
People’s Republic of China

– Master ’s Degree in Law, Univers i ty of 
Wolverhampton, United Kingdom

– Member of the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants

– Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants

Working experience and occupation(s) during the 
past 10 years

– June 2023 to Present – Company Secretary 
and Chief Financial Officer, HG Semiconductor 
Limited

– November 2020 to May 2023 – Company 
Secretary and Chief Financial Officer, DTXS 
Silk Road Investment Holdings Company 
Limited
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Shareholding interest in the listed issuer and its 
subsidiaries

Nil

Any relat ionship ( including immediate family 
relationships) with any existing director, existing 
executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial 
shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

Nil

Confl ict of interest ( including any competing 
business)

Nil

Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7.7) 
under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed 
issuer

Yes

Other Principal commitments* Including directorships#

* “Principal Commitments” has the same meaning as defined in the Code.
# These fields are not applicable for announcements of appointments pursuant to Rule 704(9) of the Listing 

Rules of the SGX-ST

Past (for the last 5 years) – December 2016 to June 2021 – Independent 
N o n - E x e c u t i v e  D i r e c t o r ,  S t a n d a r d 
Development Group Limited

Present – December 2024 to Present – Independent 
Non-Executive Director, Sunway International 
Holdings Limited

– October 2021 to Present – Independent 
Director, Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited

– May 2020 to Present – Independent Director, 
China Liberal Education Holdings Limited
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Information required

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief 
financial officer, chief operating officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the 
answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.

(a) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any bankruptcy law of 
any jurisdiction was filed against him or against a partnership of which he was a partner at the time 
when he was a partner or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a partner?

(b) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, an application or a petition under any law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against an entity (not being a partnership) of which he was a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive, at the time when he was a director or an equivalent person or a 
key executive of that entity or at any time within 2 years from the date he ceased to be a director or an 
equivalent person or a key executive of that entity, for the winding up or dissolution of that entity or, 
where that entity is the trustee of a business trust, that business trust, on the ground of insolvency?

(c) Whether there is any unsatisfied judgment against him?

(d) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving fraud 
or dishonesty which is punishable with imprisonment, or has been the subject of any criminal 
proceedings (including any pending criminal proceedings of which he is aware) for such purpose?

(e) Whether he has ever been convicted of any offence, in Singapore or elsewhere, involving a breach 
of any law or regulatory requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore 
or elsewhere, or has been the subject of any criminal proceedings (including any pending criminal 
proceedings of which he is aware) for such breach?

(f) Whether at any time during the last 10 years, judgment has been entered against him in any civil 
proceedings in Singapore or elsewhere involving a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, or a finding of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part, or he has been the subject of any civil proceedings 
(including any pending civil proceedings of which he is aware) involving an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or dishonesty on his part?

(g) Whether he has ever been convicted in Singapore or elsewhere of any offence in connection with the 
formation or management of any entity or business trust?

(h) Whether he has ever been disqualified from acting as a director or an equivalent person of any entity 
(including the trustee of a business trust), or from taking part directly or indirectly in the management 
of any entity or business trust?

(i) Whether he has ever been the subject of any order, judgment or ruling of any court, tribunal or 
governmental body, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from engaging in any type of business 
practice or activity?
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(j) Whether he has ever, to his knowledge, been concerned with the management or conduct, in 
Singapore or elsewhere, of the affairs of:

(i) any corporation which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
governing corporations in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(ii) any entity (not being a corporation) which has been investigated for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement governing such entities in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iii) any business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory requirement 
governing business trusts in Singapore or elsewhere; or

(iv) any entity or business trust which has been investigated for a breach of any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the securities or futures industry in Singapore or elsewhere, in 
connection with any matter occurring or arising during that period when he was so concerned 
with the entity or business trust?

(k) Whether he has been the subject of any current or past investigation or disciplinary proceedings, or 
has been reprimanded or issued any warning, by the Monetary Authority of Singapore or any other 
regulatory authority, exchange, professional body or government agency, whether in Singapore or 
elsewhere?

Ms. Tsang has individually given a negative disclosure on each of the above items (a) to (k).

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only.

Any prior experience as a director of an issuer listed on the Exchange? If yes, please provide details of 
prior experience. If no, please state if the director has attended or will be attending training on the roles and 
responsibilities of a director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Exchange.

Please provide details of relevant experience and the nominating committee’s reasons for not requiring the 
director to undergo training as prescribed by the Exchange (if applicable).

Not applicable for Ms. Tsang as this is a re-election/re-appointment of director.
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The directors are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of Fuxing China Group Limited (the 
“Company”) together with the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024 
and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

1. Opinion of the directors

In the opinion of the directors,

(i) the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial 
position and statement of changes in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 
the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of 
the Company for the financial year then ended on that date; and

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

2. Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Hong Qing Liang Executive Chairman
Hong Peng You Executive Director and Director of Finance and Administration
Low See Lien Lead Independent and Non-Executive Director (appointed on 1 January 2024)
Koh Boon Chiao Independent and Non-Executive Director (appointed on 15 May 2024)
Tsang Ngo Yin Independent and Non-Executive Director (appointed on 15 May 2024)

3. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose objects were, or one of whose objects was, to enable the directors of the Company 
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 
body corporate, except as disclosed in paragraphs 4 and 5 of this statement.

4. Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in shares or 
debentures of the Company or other related corporations except as follows:

Direct interest Deemed interest
Name of director and 
respective companies in 
which interests are held

At the 
beginning of 

the year
At the end 
of the year

At the 
beginning of 

the year
At the end 
of the year     

Fuxing China Group Limited  
(No. of ordinary shares)

Hong Qing Liang 10,068,640 10,068,640 – –
Hong Peng You – – 372,000 372,000

The directors’ interests as at 21 January 2025 in the shares or debentures of the Company have not 
changed from those disclosed as at 31 December 2024.
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5. Share options

There were no share options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries during the financial year.

There were no shares issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up 
unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

There were no unissued shares under option in the Company or its subsidiaries as at the end of the 
financial year.

6. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises three non-executive directors and at the date of this 
statement, they are:

Low See Lien (Chairman)
Koh Boon Chiao (Member)
Tsang Ngo Yin (Member)

The Audit Committee has convened four meetings during the financial year with key management and 
the internal and external auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee performed the below functions specified in the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the 
Code of Corporate Governance:

(i) reviewed the audit plan and results of the external audit, the independence and objectivity of the 
external auditors, including the review of the extent of non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors to the Group;

(ii) reviewed the audit plans of the internal auditors of the Group and their evaluation of the adequacy 
of the Group’s system of internal accounting controls;

(iii) reviewed the Group’s quarterly and annual financial statements and the external auditor’s report on 
the annual financial statements of the Group and of the Company before their submission to the 
board of directors;

(iv) reviewed the half-yearly and annual announcements on the results of the Group and financial 
position of the Group and of the Company;

(v) reviewed and assessed the adequacy of the Group’s risk management processes;

(vi) reviewed and checked the Group’s compliance with legal requirements and regulations, including 
the related compliance policies and programmes and reports received from regulators, if any;

(vii) reviewed interested person transactions in accordance with SGX-ST Listing Rules;

(viii) reviewed the nomination of external auditors and approval of their compensation; and

(ix) submitted report of actions and minutes of the Audit Committee to the board of directors with any 
recommendations as the Audit Committee deems appropriate.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given 
the resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any 
director and executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted 
access to the Audit Committee.
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7. Other information required by the SGX-ST

Material information

There is no material contract to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, is a party which involve 
directors’ interests subsisted or have been entered into during the financial year ended 31 December 
2024.

Interested person transactions

There was no interested person transaction as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual 
conducted during the financial year except as disclosed under “Interested Person Transactions” in the 
“Corporate Governance Report” sections of the annual report.

8. Independent auditor

The auditor, RT LLP, have indicated its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the board of directors

Hong Qing Liang Hong Peng You
Director Director

Singapore, 14 April 2025
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Fuxing China Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and 
the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of the 
consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group 
and the changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public 
Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current financial year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit

Allowance for receivables

As stated in Note 18, the carrying amount of trade and other 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 is RMB265,511,000.

With reference to SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments 
(“SFRS(I) 9”), the Group adopts a simplified approach for 
the recognition of the loss allowance for trade and bill 
receivables, which are carried at amortised cost, at an 
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) and 
has also used the practical expedient permitted in SFRS(I) 
9 in the form of a provision matrix.

For other receivables which are carried at amortised cost, 
the Group recognises the loss allowance at an amount 
equal to 12-month expected credit losses where there is no 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In 
the event that the credit risk is assessed to have increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group recognises 
the loss allowance of such other receivables at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECL.

The assessment of the credit risk and the measurement of 
ECL require the use of significant judgement and estimates. 
Any impairment losses or gains resulting from the 
recognition or reversal of ECL are recognised in profit or 
loss as an adjustment to the loss allowance at the reporting 
date.

We consider the audit of allowance for receivables to be 
a key audit matter due to the significant management 
judgement involved.

Our audit focused on evaluating the key assumptions, 
judgements and estimations used by management in 
conducting the impairment review of the trade and other 
receivables. Our audit procedures included but were not 
limited to the following:

We have reviewed:

• the management’s assessment of the recoverability 
of long outstanding and overdue trade receivables;

• the reasonableness of management’s assumptions 
and inputs used in the allowance matrix to measure 
the ECL by comparing to historical credit loss rates, 
and reviewed data and information used by the 
management, including the consideration of forward-
looking information based on specific economic 
data;

• the ar i thmet ic accuracy of management ’s 
computation of ECL;

• the debtor ageing analysis and ver i f ied to 
subsequent receipts from major debtors; and

• documentary evidence, representat ion and 
explanations from management to assess the 
recoverability of long outstanding debts, where 
applicable.
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Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit

Advances from customers

As stated in Note 24, the carrying amount of the 
advances from customers as at 31 December 2024 is 
RMB32,484,000.

The Group typically necessitate upfront payments from 
customers before fulfilling contractual performance 
obligations within the scope of the ordinary business 
operations.

We consider the audit of advances from customers to be 
a key audit matter due to the magnitude of the amount 
recognised in the financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, and were not limited to the 
following:

• Sighted to the customer contracts and records of 
payment received;

• Sighted to the sales invoices for proper offset of 
revenue against advances from customers;

• Obtained confirmations from the customers to 
confirm the balance of advances from customers as 
at 31 December 2024; and

• Performed cut-off testing to ensure advances 
received from customers are recorded in the correct 
period.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and 
equipment and land use rights

As stated in Note 12 and Note 14, the Group has property, 
plant and equipment and land use rights with carrying 
amounts of RMB269,998,000 and RMB22,406,000, 
respectively.

SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets requires that when there 
is any indication of impairment, the reporting entity shall 
estimate the recoverable amount of that asset.

During the financial year, management has performed an 
assessment and considered that there is no indication of 
impairment on the Group’s property, plant and equipment 
and land use rights. As a result, the Group made no 
impairment loss on its property, plant and equipment and 
land use rights during the financial year.

We consider the audit of the impairment assessment of 
property, plant and equipment and land use rights to be 
a key audit matter due to the significant management 
judgement and estimation involved.

Our audit focused on evaluating the management 
assessment on indication of impairment on the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment and land use rights. Our 
audit procedures included but were not limited to the 
following:

• Inquired of management on the existence of 
any indicators of impairment by considering the 
market condition, operational and funding liquidity, 
mitigating factors, management information and 
forecasting, sensitivities and stress testing in view of 
the current environment.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)
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Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of investment property

As stated in Note 13, the Group has investment property 
with carrying amount of RMB42,060,000.

The investment property is stated at fair value based on 
valuation reports prepared by an independent external 
valuer. The valuation process involves significant judgement 
in determining the appropriate valuation methodologies 
to be used, and in estimating the underlying assumptions 
to be applied. The valuations are highly sensitive to 
key assumptions applied and a small change in the 
assumptions can have a significant impact to the valuation.

During the financial year, no change to the fair value of the 
investment property from the prior year.

We consider the audit of the valuation of investment 
property to be a key audit matter due to the significant 
management’s expert judgement involved.

Our audit focused on evaluating the key assumptions, 
judgements and estimations used by management’s expert 
in conducting the valuation of the investment property. 
Our audit procedures included but were not limited to the 
following:

• Assessed the competencies and objectivities of the 
management’s expert.

• Assessed the appropriateness of the valuation 
techniques and basis for the significant assumptions 
and estimates used, including key valuation 
adjustments made by the management’s expert in 
response to the changes in market and economic 
conditions.

• Evaluated the adequacy of the related disclosures 
in the financial statements relating to the investment 
property.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)



81FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting 
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as 
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of 
assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s 
ability to continue as going concerns, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group and the Company 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s and the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as 
going concerns. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company 
to cease to continue as going concerns.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Heng Sot Leng.

RT LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore, 14 April 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000  

Revenue 4 735,871 761,768

Cost of sales (690,089) (716,140)  

Gross profit 45,782 45,628

Other items of income
Other income 5 38,932 18,253

Other items of expenses
Marketing and distribution expenses (11,961) (13,520)
Administrative expenses (60,526) (47,325)
Other expenses (55) (109)
Financial costs, net 6 (8,825) (10,537)  

Profit/(Loss) before tax 7 3,347 (7,610)
Income tax expense 10 (2,470) (3,113)  

Profit/(Loss) for the year 877 (10,723)

Other comprehensive loss:

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (2,796) (1,529)  

Total comprehensive loss for the year (1,919) (12,252)  

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 698 (11,033)
Non-controlling interests 179 310  

877 (10,723)  

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company (2,098) (12,562)
Non-controlling interests 179 310  

(1,919) (12,252)  
Earnings/(Loss) per share attributable to owners of the  

Company (RMB per share)

Basic and diluted 11 0.04 (0.64)  

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



84 FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

STATEMENTS OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2024

Group Company
Note 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Restated)    

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 269,998 300,962 – –
Investment properties 13 42,060 42,060 – –
Land use rights 14 22,406 23,312 – –
Intangible assets 15 2,504 – – –
Investment in subsidiaries 16 – – 344,853 344,853    

336,968 366,334 344,853 344,853    

Current assets
Inventories 17 66,437 80,317 – –
Trade and other receivables 18 265,511 241,995 244,345 245,973
Prepayments 19 57,430 89,377 – –
Cash and short-term deposits 20 169,634 113,783 115 859    

559,012 525,472 244,460 246,832    

Total assets 895,980 891,806 589,313 591,685    

Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 21 1,874 772,574 1,874 772,574
Treasury shares 21 (6,408) (6,408) (6,408) (6,408)
Reserve fund 22 67,552 67,130 – –
Capital reserve 22 39,573 39,573 39,573 39,573
Contributed surplus 22 598,946 – 598,946 –
Restructuring reserve 22 (117,878) (117,878) – –
Foreign currency translation reserve 22 (12,755) (9,959) – –
Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses) 276 (171,754) (52,553) (218,337)    

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 571,180 573,278 581,432 587,402
Non-controlling interests 509 444 – –    

Total equity 571,689 573,722 581,432 587,402    

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 24,286 13,194 6,493 2,343
Other liabilities 24 71,727 71,008 1,388 1,940
Loans and borrowings 25 204,575 210,411 – –
Income tax payable 3,833 3,601 – –    

304,421 298,214 7,881 4,283    

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 26 19,870 19,870 – –    

Total liabilities 324,291 318,084 7,881 4,283    

Total equity and liabilities 895,980 891,806 589,313 591,685    

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024
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STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Capital 
reserve

Contributed 
surplus

Accumulated 
losses

Total 
equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Company

Balance at 1 January 2023 772,574 (6,408) 39,573 – (209,820) 595,919

Loss and total comprehensive loss  
for the year – – – – (8,517) (8,517)      

Balance at 31 December 2023 772,574 (6,408) 39,573 – (218,337) 587,402
Loss and total comprehensive loss  

for the year – – – – (5,970) (5,970)
Capital reorganisation (770,700) – – 598,946 171,754 –      

Balance at 31 December 2024 1,874 (6,408) 39,573 598,946 (52,553) 581,432      

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)   

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(Loss) before tax 3,347 (7,610)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 39,982 41,663
Amortisation of land use rights 14 906 905
Amortisation of intangible assets 15 500 –
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (7,123) –
Fair value change of investment property 5 – (3,460)
Net (reversal of)/provision for loss allowance for trade receivables 5 (10,633) 1,606
Net (reversal of)/provision for loss allowance for advances to suppliers 5 (2,692) 558
Net reversal of provision for social security contribution 9 (6,263) (7,094)
Forfeiture of advances from customers 5 (3,013) –
Finance costs, net 6 8,825 10,537
Foreign currency differences (2,796) (1,528)

Total adjustments 17,693 43,187   

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 21,040 35,577

Changes in working capital:
Inventories 13,880 (27,930)
Trade and other receivables (12,883) 42,928
Prepayments 34,639 (13,249)
Trade and other payables 3,904 (11,305)
Other liabilities 9,995 (3,160)

Total changes in working capital 49,535 (12,716)   

Cash flows generated from operations 70,575 22,861
Income taxes paid (2,238) (2,794)   

Net cash generated from operating activities 68,337 20,067   

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (12,160) (8,947)
Purchase of intangible assets 15 (3,004) –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 10,265 –
Interest received 573 761   

Net cash used in investing activities (4,326) (8,186)   

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)   

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary (114) (229)
Advances from directors 7,188 1,445
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 125,004 103,374
Repayments of loans and borrowings (130,840) (145,469)
Interest paid (9,398) (11,298)
Increase in fixed deposits pledged to banks (3,186) (5,000)   

Net cash used in financing activities (11,346) (57,177)   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 52,665 (45,296)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 80,283 125,579   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 20 132,948 80,283   

Reconciliation of liabilities/(assets) arising from financing activities

Non-cash 
movement

1 January 
2024

Interest 
expense

Financing 
cash inflows/

(outflows)
31 December 

2024
2024 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings (Note 25) 210,411 9,398 (15,234) 204,575
Amount due to a director (non-trade) (Note 23) 1,592 – 7,188 8,780

Assets
Pledged deposits (Note 20) (33,500) – (3,186) (36,686)    

Non-cash 
movement

1 January 
2023

Interest 
expense

Financing 
cash inflows/

(outflows)
31 December 

2023
2023 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)    

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings (Note 25) 252,506 11,298 (53,393) 210,411
Amount due to a director (non-trade) (Note 23) 147 – 1,445 1,592

Assets
Pledged deposits (Note 20) (28,500) – (5,000) (33,500)    

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements.

1. General

Fuxing China Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated and domiciled as an exempt company 
with limited liability in Bermuda and is listed on the mainboard of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”).

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, 
Bermuda and the principal place of business of the Group is located at Hangbian Industry Area, Longhu 
Town, Jinjiang City, Fujian Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 14 April 2025.

2. Material accounting policy information

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”) and are prepared on the historical cost 
basis, except as otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information presented in RMB has been rounded to the nearest thousand 
(“RMB’000”), unless otherwise stated.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except 
in the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are 
effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The application of these 
amendments to standards and interpretations does not have a material effect on the financial 
statements.

The Group has not adopted the following amendments to standards and interpretations applicable 
to the Group that have been issued but not yet effective:

Reference Description

Effective date 
(Annual periods 

beginning on 
or after)   

Amendments to:
SFRS(I) 1-21, SFRS(I) 1 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
SFRS(I) 9, SFRS(I) 7 Amendments to the Classification and  

Measurement of Financial Instruments 1 January 2026
Various Annual Improvements to SFRS(I)s – Volume 11 1 January 2026
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NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Reference Description

Effective date 
(Annual periods 

beginning on 
or after)   

Amendments to:
SFRS(I) 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial  

Statements 1 January 2027
SFRS(I) 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 

Disclosures 1 January 2027

Management expects that the adoption of the standards above will have no material impact on the 
financial statements in the year of initial application.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired 
set of activities and assets meet the definition of a business and control is transferred to the 
Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group 
assesses whether the set of activities and assets includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive 
process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of 
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration test 
is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single 
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

The Group measures goodwill at the date of acquisition as:

• the consideration transferred (generally measured at fair value); plus

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest (“NCI”) in the acquiree; plus

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity 
interest in the acquiree, over the net recognised amount (generally measured at fair value) 
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Any goodwill that arises is tested 
annually for impairment.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Business combinations (Cont’d)

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and 
included in the consideration transferred. If the contingent consideration that meets the definition 
of a financial instrument is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each 
reporting date and subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are 
recognised in profit or loss.

NCI that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 
net assets of the acquiree in the event of liquidation are measured at fair value or at the NCI’s 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date 
of acquisition. The measurement basis taken is elected for each business combination. All other 
NCI are measured at acquisition-date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by 
SFRS(I)s.

Cost related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
investments, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as 
incurred.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the 
policies adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the NCI in a subsidiary are allocated to the 
NCI even if doing so causes the NCI to have a deficit balance.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value 
when control is lost.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for 
foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way 
as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Subsidiaries in the separate financial statements

Investment in subsidiaries is stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

2.3 Revenue recognition

The Group is principally in the business of production and trading of zipper products and provision 
of related processing services. Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of 
business is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring 
control of a promised good or service to the customer. The amount of revenue recognised is the 
amount of the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO.

The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-
alone selling prices of the promised goods or services. The individual standalone selling price of a 
good or service that has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly variable 
selling price, is determined based on the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating 
the transaction price to goods and/or services with observable stand-alone selling prices. A 
discount or variable consideration is allocated to one or more, but not all, of the performance 
obligations if it relates specifically to those POs.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Group expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services. The transaction price may 
be fixed or variable and is adjusted for time value of money if the contract includes a significant 
financing component. Consideration payable to a customer is deducted from the transaction price 
if the Group does not receive a separate identifiable benefit from the customer. When consideration 
is variable, the estimated amount is included in the transaction price to the extent that it is highly 
probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur when the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is resolved.

Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time following the timing of satisfaction 
of the PO. If a PO is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised based on the percentage of 
completion reflecting the progress towards complete satisfaction of that PO.

Sale of goods

The Group provides customisation and manufacturing of zipper products to deliver the 
desired designs to customers. Generally, the contracts would be completed within a year from 
commencement date. Customers can select the materials and quality of their products to fit their 
requirements. The customisation and manufacturing of zipper products is one PO as the promises 
are not distinct within the context of the contract. Revenue is recognised at a point in time 
when the control of the goods is transferred to the customer (i.e. when the goods are delivered 
in accordance with the applicable incoterms or terms and conditions and significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the goods is transferred to the customer). A corresponding receivable is 
recognised for the consideration that is unconditional when only the passage of time is required 
before the payment is due.

Processing

Processing represents colour dyeing of fabric tapes for zippers, electroplating services for zipper 
sliders and manufacturing and sales of dyed yarn. Revenue from processing is recognised at a 
point in time when the end customer receives the service (i.e. when the service is performed in 
accordance with the applicable terms and conditions). A corresponding receivable is recognised 
for the consideration that is unconditional when only the passage of time is required before the 
payment is due.

Rental income

Rental income from rental of investment property is recognised upon acceptance of tenancy and is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 Finance income and finance costs

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

• the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross 
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of 
the liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest 
income reverts to the gross basis.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in 
progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised 
until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs 
are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an 
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

2.5 Retirement benefit costs

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of PRC. 
Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are required to provide staff pension benefits to their 
employees under existing PRC legislation. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain 
percentage of their payroll costs to the pension scheme to fund the benefits. The pension funds 
are managed by government agencies, which are responsible for paying pensions to the retired 
employees. Contributions under the pension scheme are recognised as an employee benefit 
expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services are rendered by employees.

2.6 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees 
up to the end of the financial year.
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2.7 Income tax

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain 
tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them under 
SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best 
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to 
income taxes, if any. Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

• temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is 
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities on withholding tax of the forecast dividend payout of 
the earnings of its PRC subsidiaries.

The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner 
in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to 
temporary differences when they reverse, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date, and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets 
on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal 
of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is 
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for the 
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed 
when the probability of future taxable profits improves.
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2.8 Foreign currency transactions and translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the 
Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the 
difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted 
for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency 
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in profit or loss.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing 
costs, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes:

• the cost of materials and direct labour;

• any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their 
intended use;

• when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of 
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located; and

• capitalised borrowing costs.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as 
part of that equipment.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or 
loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 
of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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2.9 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components 
of individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the 
remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is 
included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and 
are ready for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is 
completed and ready for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

• Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
• Buildings 20 years
• Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years
• Office equipment 5 years

No depreciation has been provided for construction-in-progress.

For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month 
of acquisition and to the month before disposal respectively. Fully depreciated property, plant and 
equipment, if any, are retained in the books of accounts until they are no longer in use.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adjusted if appropriate.

2.10 Land use rights

Land use rights are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, land use rights are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation. The land use rights are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term of 50 years.

2.11 Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for 
both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods 
or services or for administrative purposes. Investment property is measured at cost on initial 
recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised in profit or loss.
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2.11 Investment property (Cont’d)

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. 
The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, 
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for 
their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the 
net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. 
When an investment property that was previously classified as property, plant and equipment is 
sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, 
its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting. Property 
that is being constructed for future use as investment property is accounted for at fair value.

2.12 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair values as at the date of acquisition. Following 
initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in 
which expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at 
least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing 
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or 
loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not 
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in 
useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in 
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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2.12 Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are initially capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred 
to acquire and prepare the software for its intended use. Direct expenditure which enhances 
or extends the performance of computer software beyond its specifications and which can be 
reliably measured is added to the original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining 
computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Computer software licences are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised to profit or loss over their estimated 
useful lives of 5 years.

Patent

A patent for the new Super Durable Zipper product was purchased in the financial year ended 
31 December 2010. This patent is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
impairment loss. It is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 7 years.

The amortisation expense on the patent with a finite life is recognised in profit or loss through the 
‘Administrative expenses’ line item.

Customer base

The customer base was acquired in business combinations. This customer base is measured at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment loss. It is amortised on a straight-line 
basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

The amortisation expense on the customer base with a finite life is recognised in profit or loss 
through the ‘Administrative expenses’ line item.

Operating licence

The operating licence was acquired in business combinations. This operating licence is measured 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment loss. It is amortised on a straight-line 
basis over its estimated useful life of 22 years.

The amortisation expense on the operating licence with a finite life is recognised in profit or loss 
through the ‘Administrative expenses’ line item.
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2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred 
tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash generating 
units (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or CGUs.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more 
than one CGU. Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and 
tested for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a 
pro rata basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.

2.14 Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities

Trade receivables and debt investments are initially recognised when they are originated. All 
other financial assets are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition of or issue. 
A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction 
price.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement

Non-derivative financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or 
FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model.

As at the reporting date and during the reporting period, the Group only held financial assets 
measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is 
not designated as at FVTPL:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial 
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 
practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the 
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising 
cash flows through the sale of the assets;

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held 
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

• how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on 
the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for 
such sales and expectations about future sales activity.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

Financial assets: Business model assessment (Cont’d)

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are 
not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the 
assets.

Financial assets that are held-for-trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset 
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the 
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and 
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a 
profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual 
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers:

• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

• terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features;

• prepayment and extension features; and

• terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 
features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if 
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early 
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount or 
premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount 
that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual 
interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is 
treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at 
initial recognition.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost and are initially measured at fair 
value less directly attributable transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss.

Intra-group financial guarantees in the separate financial statements

Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Company that require the issuer to 
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specified debtor 
fails to meet payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt 
instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at 
the higher of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SFRS(I) 9 and the amount initially 
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance 
with the principles of SFRS(I) 15.

Expected credit losses (“ECLs”) are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. ECLs are 
measured for financial guarantees issued as the expected payments to reimburse the holder less 
any amounts that the Company expects to recover.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when:

• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or

• it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either

– substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred; or

– the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Transferred assets are not derecognised when the Group enters into transactions whereby 
it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position, but retains either all or 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified 
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial 
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set 
off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised costs.

Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases:

• 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the 
instrument is less than 12 months); or

• Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument or contract asset.

Simplified approach

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables. The 
simplified approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs.

General approach

The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial instruments. 
Under the general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month 
ECLs at initial recognition.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. When credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and includes forward-looking information.

If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the 
financial instruments improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

• the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the 
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

• the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.
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2.14 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are measured at the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are 
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 
are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 180 days past due;

• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 
consider otherwise;

• it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of these assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the 
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group 
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that 
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s 
procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of 
new ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account.

When shares recognised as equity are reacquired, the amount of consideration paid is recognised 
directly in equity. Reacquired shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a 
deduction from total equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale 
issue or cancellation of treasury shares.

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against 
the share capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the 
accumulated profits of the Company if the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company, 
or proportionately against the share capital and accumulated profits accounts if the shares are 
purchased both out of capital and accumulated profits of the Company.

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued pursuant to the employee share option 
scheme, the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the treasury share account and the realised 
gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and 
related income tax, is recognised in the capital reserve of the Company.

2.16 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories 
is based on the weighted-average basis method, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring 
the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their 
existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost 
includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with maturities of 
three months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. 
Fixed deposits pledged to bank for securing bank facilities are excluded from cash and cash 
equivalents.

2.18 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 
discount is recognised as finance cost.
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2.19 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(i) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the Group; or

(ii) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

(a) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; or

(b) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingencies are not recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group, 
except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations 
and which the fair value can be reliably determined.

2.20 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the 
grants will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grants are 
related to an expense item, it is recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match 
them on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

2.21 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results 
are reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) (the chief operating decision 
maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO include items directly attributable to a 
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise 
mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and tax 
assets and liabilities.
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2.22 Leases

As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone 
prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance 
lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this 
is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this 
assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part 
of the economic life of the asset.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies SFRS(I) 15 to 
allocate the consideration in the contract.

2.23 Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic 
earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of the Company by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 
Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effect of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Group made judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that were not readily apparent from other sources in the application of the Group’s accounting 
policies. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 
from the estimates.

3.1 Critical judgements made in applying the Group’s accounting policies

Determination of functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currency of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currency of the respective entity in 
the Group, judgement is required to determine the currency that mainly influences sales prices 
of goods and services and of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly 
determines the sales prices of its goods and services. The functional currency of the entities in the 
Group is determined based on the local management’s assessment of the economic environment 
in which the entities operate and the respective entity’s process of determining sales prices.
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3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and land use rights

The Group reviews at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment for its property, plant and equipment and land use rights. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. As at 31 December 2024, no such indication 
is noted. The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and land use 
rights as at 31 December 2024 are disclosed in Note 12 and Note 14 to the financial statements, 
respectively.

Estimated fair value of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value, determined by independent valuer which based on the 
Direct Market Comparison Method that comparing the subject property with similar properties 
that were either transacted recently or listed for sale within the same location or other comparable 
localities. Gain or loss arising from change in the fair value of investment property is recognised 
in the profit or loss in the year in which it arises. The fair value of the investment property as at 31 
December 2024 is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Measurement of ECL of trade receivables and bill receivables

The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure ECL for trade receivables and bill receivables. 
The ECL rates are based on the Group’s historical loss experience of the receivables, for the last 
1 year prior to the reporting date for various customer groups that are assessed by geographical 
locations, product types and internal ratings, adjusted for forward looking factors, specific to the 
receivables and the economic environment which could affect the ability of the debtors to settle 
the trade receivables and bill receivables. In considering the impact of the economic environment 
on the ECL rates, the Group assesses, for example, the gross domestic production growth rates 
of the countries and the growth rates of the major industries in which its customers operate. The 
Group adjusts the allowance matrix at each reporting date. Such estimation of the ECL rates 
may not be representative of the actual default in the future. The expected loss allowance on the 
Group’s trade receivables and bill receivables as at 31 December 2024 are disclosed in Note 18 to 
the financial statements.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives 
after taking into account of their estimated residual values. The estimated useful life reflects 
management’s estimate of the period that the Group intends to derive future economic 
benefits from the use of the Group’s property, plant and equipment. The residual value reflects 
management’s estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from the disposal of the 
asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, as if the asset may already of the age and 
in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. Changes in the expected level of usage and 
technological developments could affect the economics, useful lives and the residual values of 
these assets which could then consequentially impact future depreciation charges. The carrying 
amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2024 are disclosed in Note 
12 to the financial statements.
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3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Inventory valuation method

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Management reviews the Group’s 
inventory levels in order to identify slow-moving and obsolete merchandise and identifies items 
of inventory which have a market price, being the merchandise’s selling price quoted from the 
market of similar items, that is lower than its carrying amount. Management then estimates the 
amount of inventory loss as an allowance on inventory. Changes in demand levels, technological 
developments and pricing competition could affect the stability and values of the inventory which 
could then consequentially impact the Group’s results, cash flows and financial position. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s inventories as at 31 December 2024 is disclosed in Note 17 to the 
financial statements.

Measurement of prepayments

The Group’s prepayments mainly pertain to the advances to supplier for future purchase. The loss 
allowances for prepayments are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss 
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the 
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as 
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. The carrying amount of the Group’s 
prepayments as at 31 December 2024 is disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

At the end of each financial year, an assessment is made on whether there are indicators that the 
Company’s investment is impaired. If any such indication exists, then the investment’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. The Company’s carrying amount of investment in subsidiaries as at 31 
December 2024 is disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

Provision for income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in several jurisdictions of which a portion of these taxes 
arose from certain transactions and computations for which ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities of expected tax issues 
based on their best estimates of the likely taxes due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income 
tax and deferred tax positions in the period in which such determination is made. The carrying 
amount of the Group’s current tax payables as at 31 December 2024 were RMB3,833,000 (2023: 
RMB3,601,000).
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4. Revenue (Cont’d)

Contract balances

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Contract liabilities – Advances from customers (Note 24) (32,484) (27,099)  

Significant changes in the contract liabilities balances during the period are as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000  

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at 
the beginning of the year 19,603 3,495

Increases due to cash received, excluding amounts recognised as revenue 
during the year (28,002) (6,859)

Forfeiture of advances from customers 3,013 –  

5. Other income

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Rental and management income 11,177 14,846
Net reversal of/(provision for) loss allowance for trade receivables 10,633 (1,606)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7,123 –
Foreign exchange gain, net 3,173 795
Forfeiture of advances from customers 3,013 –
Net reversal of/(provision for) loss allowance for advances to suppliers 2,692 (558)
Government grants 352 1,170
Fair value change of investment property – 3,460
Others 769 146  

38,932 18,253  

Rental and management income mainly relate to operating leases and management services provided 
for the investment property held by the subsidiary, Xiamen Fuxing Industrial Company Limited (“Xiamen 
Fuxing”). Refer to Note 13 for details of the investment property.
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6. Financial costs, net

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Interest income from:
– Bank deposits 573 761

Interest expense on:
– Bank loans (9,398) (11,298)  

(8,825) (10,537)  

7. Profit/(Loss) before tax

The following charges/(credits) were included in determination of profit/(loss) before income tax:

Group
Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Personnel expenses 9 79,479 71,083
Depreciation charge for property, plant and equipment 12 39,982 41,663
Amortisation charge for land use rights 14 906 905
Amortisation charge for intangible assets 15 500 –
Net reversal of provision for social security contribution 9 (6,263) (8,397)
Audit fees charged by auditors of the Company 1,708 1,581
Non-audit fees charged by auditors of the Company 107 –  

8. Significant related party transactions

A related party is defined as follows:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that 
person:

(i) Has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii) Has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of 
the Company.
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8. Significant related party transactions (Cont’d)

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the 
following transactions with related parties:

Compensation of directors and key management personnel

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Total compensation to key management personnel 
– salaries, bonuses and fees (Included in personnel 
expenses in Note 9) 3,460 3,111 1,456 1,452    

Comprises amounts paid to:
– Directors 1,190 991 706 620
– Other key management personnel 2,270 2,120 750 832    

3,460 3,111 1,456 1,452    

No defined contribution plans were paid to key management personnel.
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9. Personnel expenses

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Salaries and bonuses 79,479 72,386
Net reversal of provision for social security contribution (6,263) (8,397)  

73,216 63,989  

10. Income tax expense

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Current income tax:
– Current financial year 2,470 2,066

Deferred income tax (Note 26)
– Origination and reversal of temporary differences – 1,047  

2,470 1,047  

Total income tax expense 2,470 3,113  

The reconciliation between tax expense and the profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate for the financial years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Profit/(Loss) before tax 3,347 (7,610)  

Tax at the domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the
countries where the Group operates 1,400 530
Adjustments:

– Non-deductible expenses 8,931 1,416
– Income not subject to taxation (8,198) (1,481)
– Deferred tax originating from temporary differences – 1,047
– Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously not recognised – (1,251)
– Deferred tax assets not recognised 514 3,294
– Others (177) (442)  

Income tax expense 2,470 3,113  
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10. Income tax expense (Cont’d)

Unutilised tax losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has tax losses of approximately RMB90,609,000 (2023: 
RMB88,554,000) that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the 
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of such losses due to uncertainty 
of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and 
compliance with the relevant provisions of the tax legislation in the PRC.

11. Earnings/(Loss) per share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners 
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year 
amounting to 17,205,438 ordinary shares (2023: 17,205,438).

The following tables reflect the earnings/(loss) and share data used in the computation of basic and 
diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company 698 (11,033)  

No. of 
shares

No. of 
shares

’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings  
per share computation 17,205 17,205  

Note: Basic earnings/(loss) per share is computed based on weighted average number of shares in issue 
in 17,205,438 ordinary shares (2023: 17,205,438).

Group
2024 2023  

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (RMB per share) 0.04 (0.64)  
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Plant and 
machinery Buildings

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
equipment

Construction-
in-progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2023 273,741 341,590 8,795 1,917 – 626,043
Additions 3,418 – 451 2,537 – 6,406
Disposal – – (694) (2) – (696)      

At 31 December 2023 277,159 341,590 8,552 4,452 – 631,753
Additions 7,674 1,054 556 753 2,123 12,160
Disposal (6,019) – (607) (2,478) – (9,104)
Write off – – (529) – – (529)      

At 31 December 2024 278,814 342,644 7,972 2,727 2,123 634,280      

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 77,303 200,281 6,905 1,259 – 285,748
Depreciation charge for the financial year 26,290 14,732 321 320 – 41,663
Disposal – – (694) (2) – (696)      

At 31 December 2023 103,593 215,013 6,532 1,577 – 326,715
Depreciation charge for the financial year 25,645 13,682 398 257 – 39,982
Disposal (5,335) – (400) (227) – (5,962)
Write off – – (529) – – (529)      

At 31 December 2024 123,903 228,695 6,001 1,607 – 360,206      

Accumulated impairment loss
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023  

and 31 December 2024 – 4,076 – – – 4,076      

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2024 154,911 109,873 1,971 1,120 2,123 269,998      

At 31 December 2023 173,566 122,501 2,020 2,875 – 300,962      

As of 31 December 2024, certain buildings of the Group with net carrying amount of RMB99,777,000 
(2023: RMB110,610,000) were pledged as security for the facility of bills payables and short-term bank 
loans (Note 25).

There are no rules or guidelines under the existing rules and regulations in the PRC as to the 
responsibility of restoration upon expiry of land use rights. There is no reliable estimation to the cost of 
restoration and the expenditure is not probable.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment for 
its property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. As at 31 December 2024, no such indication is noted.
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13. Investment property

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

At fair value:
At 1 January 42,060 38,600
Fair value change – 3,460  

At 31 December 42,060 42,060  

Recognised in profit or loss
Fair value change – net of deferred tax charge – 2,595
Rental income and management income  

(including direct expenses) – net 6,572 7,286  

6,572 9,881  

Valuation of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on management’s intention to resale the property, which 
has been determined based on valuation performed as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The valuation of 
investment property was performed by the Valuer on the reporting dates. The Valuer has a recognised 
and relevant professional qualification and with relevant recent experience in the location and category 
of the properties being valued. The valuation is based on the direct market comparison approach that 
makes reference to the market values of comparable properties in the same area.

Key unobservable input used is the transacted prices per square metre of comparable properties in 
close proximity based on recent market transactions. These recent transacted prices are subsequently 
adjusted to consider the size of the Group’s property, the age of the building, the remaining tenure of the 
property and/or the plot ratio of the land relative to those of the comparable properties sold to derive the 
fair value of the Group’s property. An increase in transacted prices per square metre would increase the 
valuation.

Details of the investment property held by the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Location
Gross 

Area
Existing 

Use Tenure
Expiry of 

Lease Term     

Siming District, Xiamen City, Fujian 
Province, the People’s Republic  
of China 6,378 sq m Office Leasehold 27 April 2061
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14. Land use rights

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Cost
At 1 January and 31 December 35,300 35,300  

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 11,988 11,083
Amortisation charge for the financial year 906 905  

At 31 December 12,894 11,988  

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 22,406 23,312  

Amount to be amortised
– Not later than one year 905 905
– Later than one year but not later than five years 4,525 4,525
– Later than five years 16,976 17,882  

22,406 23,312  

The Group has land use rights over six plots (2023: six plots) of state-owned land in the PRC where the 
Group’s manufacturing and storage facilities reside. The land use rights have remaining tenure of 22 
years to 34 years (2023: 23 years to 35 years).

Land use rights pledged as security

As of 31 December 2024, the land use rights of the Group with net carrying amount of RMB22,406,000 
(2023: RMB23,312,000) were pledged as security for the facility of bills payables and short-term bank 
loans (Note 25).
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15. Intangible assets

Software Patent
Customer 

base
Operating 

licence Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023  

and 1 January 2024 209 46,000 71,951 98,254 216,414
Additions 3,004 – – – 3,004     

At 31 December 2024 3,213 46,000 71,951 98,254 219,418     

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 

and 1 January 2024 209 20,262 18,587 10,793 49,851
Amortisation charge for the financial year 500 – – – 500     

At 31 December 2024 709 20,262 18,587 10,793 50,351     

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 

and 2024 – 25,738 53,364 87,461 166,563     

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2024 2,504 – – – 2,504     

At 31 December 2023 – – – – –     

Customer base and operating licence arose from business combinations in 2011.

Software

This represents systems acquired by the Group to enhance production process monitoring and 
operational efficiency. Hence, it has been identified as an intangible asset arising from these acquisitions.

Patent

This represents the patent right bought from the patent holder for the production of Super Durable 
Zipper, hence it has been identified as an intangible asset from these acquisitions.

Customer base

The vast majority of the products by Fulong Zipper and Weaving Co., Ltd (“Fulong”) and Jinjiang Jianxin 
Weaving Co., Ltd (“Jianxin”) are transacted with existing customers whom the subsidiaries have long-
term relationship with and repeated orders from these customers, hence it has been identified as an 
intangible asset arising from these acquisitions.
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15. Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Operating licence

The electroplating industry is regulated tightly in the PRC due to its pollutive nature and there will 
be limited granting of such licences to new entrants based on current legislation, hence it has been 
identified as an intangible asset arising from these acquisitions.

Amortisation expense

The amortisation of software, patent, customer base and operating licence is included in “Administrative 
expenses” in profit or loss.

Impairment loss recognised previously

In 2013, full impairment was recognised on the carrying amount of patent, customer base and operating 
licence.

16. Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Unquoted shares, at cost 344,853 344,853  
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16. Investments in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name

Country of incorporation 
and principal place of 
business Principal activities

Effective equity held 
by the Company

2024 2023
% %     

Held directly by the Company

Jade Star Group Holdings  
Limited (“Jade Star”) (2)

British Virgin Islands Investment holding
100 100

Fuxing China Group  
Limited (HK) (“FCG”) (2)

Hong Kong Investment holding, to facilitate the 
application of the State-owned 
Land Use Right Certificate in 
respect of the Land Parcel 100 100

Held through Jade Star

Jinjiang Fookhing Zipper Co.,  
Ltd (“Fookhing Zipper”) (1)

People’s Republic of China Production and sale of finished 
zippers and zipper chains 100 100

Jinjiang Fuxing Dress Co.,  
Ltd (“Fuxing Dress”) (1)

People’s Republic of China Production and sale of zipper sliders
100 100

Fookhing Group Trading Co.,  
Ltd (“Fuxing HK”) (1)

Hong Kong Trading of raw materials for textile 
sector 100 100

Fulong Zipper and Weaving Co., Ltd 
(“Fulong”) (1)

People’s Republic of China Colour dyeing of fabric tapes for 
zippers 100 100

Jinjiang Jianxin Weaving Co.,  
Ltd (“Jianxin”) (1)

People’s Republic of China Manufacturing and sales of dyed yarn
100 100

Jinjiang Fuxin Electroplating Co.,  
Ltd (“Fuxin”) (1)

People’s Republic of China Provision of electroplating services for 
zipper sliders 100 100

Held through FCG

Xiamen Fuxing Industrial Company  
Limited (“Xiamen Fuxing”) (1)

People’s Republic of China Real estate development
100 100

Held through Xiamen Fuxing

Xiamen Xinfuxing Property  
Management Co., Ltd  
(“Xiamen Property”) (1)

People’s Republic of China To handle property management and 
realtor services for the Group’s 
Xiamen headquarters 80 80

(1) Audited by RT LLP for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements.

(2) The unaudited management accounts have been used for consolidation purposes as they are not 
material to the Group’s financial statements. Summarised financial information was not disclosed 
as the non-controlling interests of the Group is not significant.
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17. Inventories

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Raw materials 33,579 44,169
Work-in-progress 11,025 9,308
Finished goods 21,833 26,840  

66,437 80,317  

The Group has recognised RMB690,089,000 (2023: RMB714,704,000), as an expense in cost of sales.

18. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Trade receivables 286,997 260,048 – –
Less: loss allowance (Note 29) (41,670) (52,303) – –    

245,327 207,745 – –

Bills receivables 536 3,475 – –
Other receivables 20,553 31,680 2 2
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 556,308 557,936
Less: loss allowance (Note 29) (905) (905) (311,965) (311,965)    

Total trade and other receivables 265,511 241,995 244,345 245,973    

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 90 to 180 days (2023: 90 to 180 
days) term. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on 
initial recognition. The trade receivables are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective 
entities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Bills receivables

Bills receivables are interest-free and have maturity periods of approximately 180 days (2023: 180 days) 
and are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities.

Other receivables

Other receivables mainly comprise of VAT receivables arising from input tax credits of RMB10,960,000 
(2023: RMB11,799,000).
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18. Trade and other receivables (Cont’d)

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable on demand and are to 
be settled in cash. Amounts due from subsidiaries are denominated in the functional currency of the 
Company except for an amount of RMB22,210,000 (2023: RMB16,782,000) which are denominated in 
Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”).

The details of the impairment of trade and other receivables and credit exposures are disclosed in Note 
29.

19. Prepayments

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Current:
Advances to suppliers 47,709 81,625
Less: loss allowance (Note 29) (33) (2,725)  

47,676 78,900
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment 5,857 5,751
Prepaid operating expenses 3,897 4,726  

Total prepayments 57,430 89,377  

The prepayments are non-interest bearing, refundable on demand and denominated in the functional 
currencies of the respective entities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Movement in loss allowance for advances to suppliers: 2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000  

At 1 January 2,725 3,037
Reversal for the financial year (2,692) (312)  

At 31 December 33 2,725  

The Group has made prepayment of RMB5,857,000 (2023: RMB5,751,000) to third party vendors to 
acquire certain machineries as at the reporting date.
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20. Cash and short-term deposits

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Cash at banks and on hand 132,948 80,283 115 859
Short-term deposits 36,686 33,500 – –    

Cash and short-term deposits 169,634 113,783 115 859    

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits 
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the Group and earn interests at the respective short-term deposits rates. Short-term 
deposits amounting to RMB36,686,000 (2023: RMB33,500,000) are pledged to banks for the Group’s 
bills payables and short-term bank loans (Note 25).

Cash and short-term deposits denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

United States Dollar 2,236 1,901 – –
Singapore Dollar – 11 – 11
Hong Kong Dollar 258 972 114 848    

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 
following at the end of the reporting period:

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Cash and short-term deposits 169,634 113,783
Less: short-term deposits pledged (36,686) (33,500)  

Cash and cash equivalents 132,948 80,283  
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21. Share capital and treasury shares

(a) Share capital

Group and Company
2024 2023

No. of 
shares Value

No. of 
shares Value

’000 RMB’000 ’000 RMB’000    

At 1 January 17,205 772,574 17,205 772,574
Capital reorganisation – (770,700) – –    

At 31 December 17,205 1,874 17,205 772,574    

The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and 
when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. 
On 24 December 2024, the Company announced that the Capital Reorganisation were effected to 
reduce the par value of each ordinary share from SGD 5.00 to SGD 0.02 (Note 22(e)).

Capital Reorganisation had no change in the number of issued and paid-up ordinary shares held 
by, or the percentage level of shareholding of, each Shareholder or Depositor. The ordinary shares 
with a par value of SGD 0.02 each will rank pari passu in all respects with each other.

(b) Treasury shares

Group and Company
2024 2023

No. of 
shares Value

No. of 
shares Value

’000 RMB’000 ’000 RMB’000    

At 1 January and 31 December 277 6,408 277 6,408    

Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company.
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22. Other reserves

(a) Reserve fund

In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC, the 
subsidiary is required to make appropriation to a Statutory Reserve Fund (SRF). At least 10% of 
the statutory after-tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable PRC accounting 
standards and regulations must be allocated to the SRF until the cumulative total of the reserve 
fund reaches 50% of the subsidiary’s registered capital. Subject to approval from the relevant 
PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any accumulated losses or increase the registered 
capital of the subsidiary. The SRF is not available for dividend distribution to shareholders.

(b) Capital reserve

On 10 September 2007, the Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Jade Star Group 
at an aggregate consideration based on the net assets value (“NAV”) of Jade Star Group and its 
subsidiaries of SGD 67,777,712 (RMB344,854,544) (which is the aggregate of the audited NAV of 
Fookhing Zipper and Fuxing Dress as at 31 December 2006) which is deemed as fair value of the 
investment in Jade Star Group and its subsidiaries. In consideration of the foregoing, the Company 
issued an aggregate of 599,800,000 shares of SGD 0.10 each in the Company at an aggregate 
excess value of SGD 7,797,712 (RMB39,572,999), credited to the capital reserve of the Company.

(c) Restructuring reserve

This represents the difference between the nominal value of shares issued by the Company in 
exchange for the nominal value of shares and capital reserve of subsidiaries acquired which is 
accounted for under “merger accounting”.

(d) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of the entities whose functional currencies are different from 
that of the Group’s presentation currency.

(e) Contributed surplus

This represents the credit arising from the Capital Reduction and Share Premium Reduction. As 
part of the Capital Reorganisation effective on 24 December 2024, the par value of each share 
was reduced from SGD 5.00 to SGD 0.02, resulting in a reduction of share capital. The Capital 
Reduction amounted to RMB299,836,000 (equivalent to approximately SGD 55,442,000), while 
the Share Premium Reduction amounted to RMB470,864,000 (equivalent to approximately SGD 
87,066,000). The total aggregate sum of RMB770,700,000 was credited to the contributed surplus 
account. A portion of this contributed surplus, amounting to RMB171,754,000, was utilised to 
offset accumulated losses as at 31 December 2023.
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23. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Restated)    

Trade payables 15,506 11,602 – –
Amount due to a director (non-trade) 8,780 1,592 6,493 2,343    

Total trade and other payables 24,286 13,194 6,493 2,343    

Trade payables

Trade payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days.

Amount due to a director

Amount due to a director is non-trade related, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on 
demand.

All trade and other payables are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities as at 
31 December 2024 and 2023.

24. Other liabilities

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Advances from customers (trade) 32,484 27,099 – –
Accrued salary and bonuses 19,619 28,289 52 –
Other accruals 19,624 15,620 1,336 1,940    

71,727 71,008 1,388 1,940    

All other liabilities are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

Other accruals

Other accruals mainly comprise of VAT payables arising from output tax of RMB4,418,000 (2023: 
RMB4,433,000).
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25. Loans and borrowings

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Restated)  

Bills payables to banks
Bill 1 40,180 47,000
Bill 3 20,000 20,000
Bill 4 44,891 56,111  

105,071 123,111  

Short-term bank loans:
Loan 1 89,504 71,300
Loan 2 10,000 6,800
Loan 3 – 9,200  

99,504 87,300  

Total loans and borrowings 204,575 210,411  

1 These bill payable to bank (Bill 1) and short-term bank loan (Loan 1) are secured by bank deposits 
of Fookhing Zipper and certain land use rights and buildings owned by Jianxin, located at 
Donghaian Development Zone, Shenhu Town, Jinjiang City, Fujian Province, the PRC and personal 
guarantee from related parties – Mr. Hong Qing Liang (Executive Chairman) and Ms. Shi Mei Mei 
(spouse of the Executive Chairman), and corporate guarantee from a subsidiary – Fuxing Dress and 
independent third party – Jinjiang Yuanda Garment Weaving Co., Ltd.

2 This short-term bank loan (Loan 2) is secured by certain land use rights and buildings owned 
by Fookhing Zipper, located at Hangbian Industrial Area, Longhu Town, Jinjiang City, Fujian 
Province, the PRC. and personal guarantee from related parties – Mr. Hong Qing Liang (Executive 
Chairman) and Ms. Shi Mei Mei (spouse of the Executive Chairman), and corporate guarantee from 
a subsidiary – Fuxing Dress.

3 These bill payable to bank (Bill 3) and the short-term bank loan (Loan 3) are secured by bank 
deposits of Fuxing Dress and certain land use rights and buildings owned by Fulong, located at 
Donghaian Comprehensive Development Zone, Shenhu Town, Jinjiang City, Fujian Province, the 
PRC and personal guarantee from related parties – Mr. Hong Qing Liang (Executive Chairman) and 
Ms. Shi Mei Mei (spouse of the Executive Chairman).

4 Bill payable to bank (Bill 4) is secured by a charge over a property (Unit 13 on 5th Floor) located 
at Seapower Tower Concordia Plaza, No.1 Science Museum Road, Kowloon owned by Goldplan 
Corporation Limited, corporate guarantee from the Company, and personal guarantee from a 
related party – Mr. Hong Qing Liang (Executive Chairman).

Goldplan Corporation Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Hong Qing Liang (Executive Chairman).

All loans and borrowings are denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023. The short-term loans bear interest ranging from 4.35% to 6.09% (2023: 4.35% 
to 7.4%) and are repayable within 12 months.
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26. Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax as at 31 December relates to the following:

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation

Fair value 
adjustment 

on investment 
property

Withholding 
tax on 

undistributed 
profits (1) Total

Group RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

Deferred tax liabilities
At 1 January 2023 9,035 – 9,788 18,823
Charge to profit or loss – 865 182 1,047    

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 9,035 865 9,970 19,870    

1 On 22 February 2008, the State Administration of Taxation of China issued a circular [2008] 
No.001, which states that distribution of dividends after 1 January 2008 from pre-2008 profits will 
be exempt from withholding tax on distribution to foreign investors. As a result, there should be 
no deferred tax liabilities arising from undistributed profits of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries 
accumulated up till 31 December 2007. Provision for deferred tax liabilities, however, would be 
required to the extent per SFRS(I) 1-12 on profits accumulated from 1 January 2008 onwards.

27. Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 
services, and has four reportable operating segments as follows:

(i) Zippers

This operating segment is further sub-divided into 2 sub-segments as follows:

(a) Zipper Chains

The zipper chain consists of 2 strips of fabric tapes, with parallel rows of specially shaped 
nylon, metal or plastic teeth, as the case may be, either weaved on or punched onto 
adjacent edges of a fabric tape, thereby interlocking with each other to provide a firm grip 
and resulting in a zipper chain.

(b) Zipper Sliders

The zipper slider consists of a zinc zipper head and zipper pull tab which is subsequently 
affixed on the zipper chain, such that it moves along the rows of teeth, allowing the teeth to 
be fastened or separated, depending on the direction of the movement.

(ii) Processing

Processing represents colour dyeing of fabric tapes for zippers, electroplating services for zipper 
sliders and manufacturing and sales of dyed yarn.

(iii) Trading

The trading segment represents trading of raw materials, including rubber thread, nylon fabric and 
nylon yarn.
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27. Segment information (Cont’d)

(iv) Corporate

The corporate segment is involved in Group-level corporate services and treasury functions.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments has been aggregated to form the above reportable 
operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 
based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured 
differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.

Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as such separate financial information is not available 
but is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resources to 
the operating segments.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to 
transactions with third parties.

Geographical information

Revenue and non-current assets information based on geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows:

Revenue Non-current assets
2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

People’s Republic of China 522,800 454,349 336,961 366,324
Hong Kong 213,071 307,419 7 10    

735,871 761,768 336,968 366,334    

Non-current assets information presented above consist of property, plant and equipment, investment 
property, land use rights and intangible assets as presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.
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27. Segment information (Cont’d)

Business segments

The following table presents revenue, results and other information regarding the Group’s business 
segments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Group Zipper Trading Processing Corporate Elimination Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

31 December 2024
Revenue:
Sales to external customers 463,367 213,071 59,433 – – 735,871
Inter-segment sales – – 35,217 – (35,217) –      

Total revenue 463,367 213,071 94,650 – (35,217) 735,871      

Results:
Segment gross profit 39,362 5,926 494 – – 45,782
Segment results 21,729 5,001 (12,236) (2,322) – 12,172
Financial costs, net (5,702) (3,158) 4 31 – (8,825) 

Profit before tax 3,347
Income tax expense (2,470) 

Profit for the year 877 

Other segment information
Depreciation and amortisation 28,238 3 12,772 376 – 41,388
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment (1,214) – (5,909) – – (7,123)
Forfeiture of advances from customers (2,230) – (783) – – (3,013)
Net reversal of provision for social security 

contribution (4,914) – (1,349) – – (6,263)
Net provision for/(reversal of) allowance  

for trade receivables (7,320) – (3,313) – – (10,633)
Net provision for/(reversal of) allowance  

for advances to suppliers (323) – (2,369) – – (2,692)

Total assets 637,209 71,638 129,250 57,883 – 895,980      

Total assets include:
Capital expenditure for property, plant  

and equipment 7,135 – 5,025 – – 12,160      

Total liabilities (230,205) (45,039) (37,710) (11,337) – (324,291)      
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27. Segment information (Cont’d)

Business segments (Cont’d)

Group Zipper Trading Processing Corporate Elimination Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

31 December 2023
Revenue:
Sales to external customers 393,769 307,419 60,580 – – 761,768
Inter-segment sales – – 23,579 – (23,579) –      

Total revenue 393,769 307,419 84,159 – (23,579) 761,768      

Results:
Segment gross profit 30,270 7,139 8,219 – – 45,628
Segment results (2,674) 5,009 4,215 (3,623) – 2,927
Financial costs, net (5,884) (3,882) (789) 18 – (10,537) 

Loss before tax (7,610)
Income tax expense (3,113) 

Loss for the year (10,723) 

Other segment information
Depreciation and amortisation 28,183 2 13,389 994 – 42,568
Fair value change of investment property – – – (3,460) – (3,460)
Net reversal of provision for social  

security contribution (3,527) – (3,566) – – (7,094)
Net provision for/(reversal of) allowance  

for trade receivables 103 – 1,529 (26) – 1,606
Net provision for allowance for advances  

to suppliers 541 17 – – – 558

Total assets 600,336 85,506 149,416 56,548 – 891,806      

Total assets include:
Capital expenditure for property, plant  

and equipment 5,291 – 1,115 – – 6,406      

Total liabilities (214,114) (56,225) (41,053) (6,692) – (318,084)      
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28. Commitments

Guarantees

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company has provided the following corporate guarantees at the 
end of the reporting period for bills payable taken up by Fuxing HK:

– Bills payable to bank of RMB44,891,000 (2023: RMB56,111,000) (Note 25).

The financial effects relating to financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are insignificant to 
the financial statements of the Company and therefore are not recognised.

29. Financial instruments and financial risks

Financial instruments by category

The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments is as disclosed on the face of the 
statements of financial position and as follows:

Group
Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Restated)  

Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables(a) 18 254,551 230,196
Cash and short-term deposits 20 169,634 113,783  

424,185 343,979  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 23 24,286 13,194
Other liabilities(b) 24 34,825 39,476
Loans and borrowings 25 204,575 210,411  

263,686 263,081  

(a) Excluding VAT receivables.

(b) Excluding VAT payables and advances from customers.
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Financial instruments by category (Cont’d)

Company
Note 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables 18 244,345 245,973
Cash and cash equivalents 20 115 859  

244,460 246,832  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 23 6,493 2,343
Other liabilities 24 1,388 1,940  

7,881 4,283  

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. 
The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The 
Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks which 
are executed by the Executive Director. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the 
effectiveness of the risk management process. It is and has been throughout the current and previous 
financial years, the Group’s policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken except for the use as hedging 
instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the abovementioned financial 
risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it 
manages and measures the risks.
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from 
trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and short-term deposits), the 
Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to 
increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is 
the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification 
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored closely on an ongoing basis.

To assess and manage its credit risk, the Group categorises the aforementioned financial assets 
according to their risk of default. The Group defines default to have taken place when internal or/and 
external information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely to be received, which could include a 
breach of debt covenant, and/or where contractual payments are 180 days past due.

The Group has not rebutted the presumption included in SFRS(I) 9 that there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition when financial assets are more than 30 days past due.

In their assessment, the management considers, amongst other factors, the latest relevant credit ratings 
from reputable external rating agencies where available and deemed appropriate, historical credit 
experiences, latest available financial information and latest applicable credit reputation of the debtor.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading categories are as follows:

Category Description Basis of recognising ECL   

1 Low credit risk (Note1) 12-months ECL
2 Non-significant increase in credit risk  

since initial recognition and financial  
asset is ≤ 30 days past due

12-months ECL

3 Significant increase in credit risk since initial  
recognition (Note 2) or financial asset is > 30  
days past due

Lifetime ECL

4 Evidence indicates that financial assets are  
credit-impaired (Note 3)

Difference between financial asset’s gross 
carrying amount and present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate

5 Evidence indicates that the management  
has no reasonable expectations of  
recovering the write-off amount (Note 4)

Written off
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Note 1. Low credit risk

The financial asset is determined to have low credit risk if the financial assets have a low risk of default, 
the counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 
reduce the ability of the counterparty to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. Generally, this is the 
case when the Group assesses and determines that the debtor has been, is in and is highly likely to be, 
in the foreseeable future and during the (contractual) term of the financial asset, in a financial position 
that will allow the debtor to settle the financial asset as and when it falls due.

Note 2. Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of the financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial asset as of reporting date 
with the risk of default occurring on the financial asset as of date of initial recognition, and considered 
reasonable and supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort, that is indicative 
of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. In assessing the significance of the change 
in the risk of default, the Group considers both past due and forward looking quantitative and qualitative 
information. Forward looking information includes the assessment of the latest performance and financial 
position of the debtor, adjusted for the Group’s future outlook of the industry in which the debtor 
operates based on independently obtained information and the most recent news or market talks about 
the debtor, as applicable. In its assessment, the Group will generally, for example, assess whether the 
deterioration of the financial performance and/or financial position, adverse change in the economic 
environment (country and industry in which the debtor operates), deterioration of credit risk of the debtor, 
etc. is in line with its expectation as of the date of initial recognition of the financial asset.

Note 3. Credit impaired

In determining whether financial assets are credit-impaired, the Group assesses whether one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cashflows of the financial asset have 
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes the following observable data:

• Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• Breach of contract; such as a default or being more than 180 days from invoice date;

• It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Note 4. Write off

Generally, the Group writes off, partially or fully, the financial asset when it assesses that there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery of the amount as evidenced by, for example, the debtor’s lack of assets or 
income sources that could generate sufficient cashflows to repay the amounts subjected to the write-off.

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its counterparties’ financial condition and generally 
does not require collateral.

The Group and Company do not have any significant credit exposure to any single counterparty or any 
groups of counterparties having similar characteristics other than the geographical location of their 
operations.

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group is principally engaged in the production and sale of zipper sliders, zipper chains, provision 
of colour dyeing of fabric tapes for zippers, electroplating services for zipper sliders and manufacturing 
and sales of dyed yarn. The Group is also engaged in the trading of raw materials in Hong Kong. The 
products are sold to a diversified customer base which is in numerous industry sectors. The Group 
determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country of its trade receivables on an ongoing 
basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the end of the reporting 
period is as follows:

Group
2024 2023

By country: RMB’000 % of total RMB’000 % of total    

People’s Republic of China 176,217 72 124,367 60
Hong Kong 69,110 28 83,378 40    

245,327 100 207,745 100    

At the end of the reporting year, approximately 69% (2023: 72%) of the Group’s trade receivables were 
due from 5 (2023: 5) major customers who are all trading companies located in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and bill receivables (Note 18)

The Group uses the practical expedient under SFRS(I) 9 in the form of allowance matrix to measure the 
ECL for trade receivables and bill receivables, where the loss allowance is equal to lifetime ECL.

The ECL for trade receivables and bill receivables are estimated using an allowance matrix by reference 
to the historical credit loss experience of the customers for the last 1 years prior to the respective 
reporting dates for various customer groups that are assessed by geographical locations, product types 
and internal ratings, adjusted for forward looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment which could affect the ability of the debtors to settle the financial assets. In considering 
the impact of the economic environment on the ECL rates, the Group assesses, for example, the gross 
domestic production growth rates of the countries and the growth rates of the major industries which its 
customers operate in.

Trade receivables and bill receivables are written off when there is evidence to indicate that the customer 
is in severe financial difficulty such as being under liquidation or bankruptcy and there are no reasonable 
expectations for recovering the outstanding balances.
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and bill receivables (Note 18) (Cont’d)

The loss allowance for trade receivables and bill receivables are determined as follows:

Trade receivables and bill receivables 

Group Current

Past due 
more than 

1 to 90 days

Past due 
more than 

91 to 180 days

Past due 
more than 

180 days Total     

31 December 2024
Expected credit loss rates 0% 0% 0% 86%
Trade receivables (gross) 86,639 101,404 50,252 48,702 286,997
Bill receivables (gross) 536 – – – 536
Loss allowance (including credit impaired) – – – (41,670) (41,670)     

31 December 2023
Expected credit loss rates 0% 0% 0% 87%
Trade receivables (gross) 60,054 97,997 42,192 59,805 260,048
Bill receivables (gross) 3,475 – – – 3,475
Loss allowance (including credit impaired) – – – (52,303) (52,303)     

Other receivables (Note 18) and advances to suppliers (Note 19)

As of 31 December 2024, the Group recorded other receivables and advances to suppliers amounted 
to RMB20,553,000 (2023: RMB31,680,000) and RMB47,709,000 (2023: RMB81,625,000), respectively. 
The Group assessed on those suppliers’ credit reputation and concluded that there has been no 
significant increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets, except for those 
with objective evidence which indicated that financial assets were credit impaired. Accordingly, the 
Group measured the impairment loss allowance pursuant to the abovementioned credit risk grading 
categories and determined that loss allowances of RMB905,000 and RMB33,000 (2023: RMB905,000 
and RMB2,725,000) on other receivables and advances to suppliers respectively were made.

Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 18)

As of 31 December 2024, the Company recorded amounts due from subsidiaries of RMB556,308,000 
(2023: RMB557,936,000) consequent to an extension of loans to the subsidiaries. In its assessment of 
the credit risk of the subsidiaries, the Company considered amongst other factors, the financial position 
of the subsidiaries as of 31 December 2024. The Company assessed the impairment loss allowance of 
these amounts on a 12-month ECL basis consequent to their assessment and conclusion that these 
receivables are of low credit risk other than the credit impaired amount of RMB311,965,000 (2023: 
RMB311,965,000).
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 
to shortage of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility using stand-by credit facilities.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the 
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 
The Group’s liquidity risk management policy is to maintain sufficient liquid financial assets and funding 
flexibility using bank loans and bills payables when necessary. At the end of the reporting period, 100% 
(2023: 100%) of the Group’s borrowings will mature in less than one year based on the carrying amount 
reflected in the financial statements.

The Group assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be 
low. Access to sources of funding is sufficiently available and debt maturing within 12 months can be 
rolled over with existing lenders.

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s financial 
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations.

One year or less
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Restated)  

Group
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables(a) 254,551 230,196
Cash and short-term deposits 169,634 113,783  

Total undiscounted financial assets 424,185 343,979  

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 24,286 13,194
Other liabilities(b) 34,825 39,476
Loans and borrowings 204,575 210,411  

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 263,686 263,081  

Total net undiscounted financial assets 160,499 80,898  

(a) Excluding VAT receivables

(b) Excluding VAT payables and advances from customers



144 FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (Cont’d)

One year or less
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

Company
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 244,345 245,973
Cash and short-term deposits 115 859  

Total undiscounted financial assets 244,460 246,832  

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 6,493 2,343
Other liabilities 1,388 1,940  

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 7,881 4,283  

Total net undiscounted financial assets 236,579 242,549  

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises 
primarily from their short-term bank loans.

The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, if RMB interest rates had been 100 (2023: 100) basis points lower/
higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit before income tax would have 
been RMB298,000 (2023: RMB966,000) higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest 
expenses/income on floating rate cash and short-term deposits, bills payables to banks and floating 
rate bank loans. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on 
the currently observable market environment, showing a significantly lower volatility as in prior financial 
years.
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29. Financial instruments and financial risks (Cont’d)

Foreign currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue and incurs most of its expenditures in RMB. Cash and bank 
balances of the Group are mainly denominated in RMB. The Group currently does not have a foreign 
currency hedging policy as management considers the foreign exchange risk exposure of the Group 
to be limited. However, the Group monitors currency risk exposure by periodically reviewing foreign 
currency exchange rates and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need 
arise.

The Group’s operations are primarily conducted in the PRC in RMB. Currently, the PRC government 
imposes control over foreign currencies, RMB, the official currency in the PRC, is not freely convertible. 
Enterprises operating in the PRC can enter into exchange transactions through the People’s Bank of 
China or other authorised financial institutions.

Payments for imported materials or services, which are outside the PRC, are subject to the availability 
of foreign currency which depends on the foreign currency denominated earnings of the enterprises. 
Exchanges of RMB for foreign currency must be arranged through the People’s Bank of China or 
other authorised financial institutions and is granted to enterprises in the PRC for valid reasons such 
as purchase of imported materials and remittance of earnings. While conversion of RMB into other 
currencies can generally be effected at the People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial 
institutions, there is no guarantee that it can be effected at all times.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s and of the Company’s profit before tax to 
a reasonably possible change in the HKD and USD exchange rates against RMB, with all other variables 
held constant.

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

Profit/(loss) before 
income tax

Profit/(loss) before 
income tax

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

HKD – strengthened 5% (2023: 5%) (13) 49 (1,118) (797)
  – weakened 5% (2023: 5%) 13 (49) 1,118 797

USD – strengthened 5% (2023: 5%) (112) 95 – –
  – weakened 5% (2023: 5%) 112 (95) – –
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30. Fair value of assets and liabilities

The fair values of applicable assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

(a) Level 1 – the fair values of assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and which 
trade in active liquid markets that the Group can access at the measurement date are determined 
with reference to quoted market prices (unadjusted).

(b) Level 2 – in the absence of quoted market prices, the fair values of the assets and liabilities 
(excluding derivative instruments) are determined using the other observable, either directly or 
indirectly, inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets, quoted prices 
for identical or similar assets/liabilities in non-active markets.

(c) Level 3 – in the absence of quoted market prices included within Level 1 and observable inputs 
included within Level 2, the fair values of the remaining assets and liabilities are determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety 
in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement.

Recurring Fair Value Measurement Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000   

Group
2024
Non-financial assets:
Investment property – Commercial – – 42,060   

2023
Non-financial assets:
Investment property – Commercial – – 42,060   

Movements in Level 3 assets and liabilities subject to recurring fair value measurements

The following table presents the reconciliation for all assets and liabilities measured at fair value based 
on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):

Investment property
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  

At 1 January 42,060 38,600
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss – 3,460  

At 31 December 42,060 42,060  
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30. Fair value of assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

Valuation policies and procedures

The Group’s Finance Director (“FD”) oversees the Group’s financial reporting valuation process and is 
responsible for setting and documenting the Group’s valuation policies and procedures and reports to 
the Group’s Audit Committee.

It is the Group’s policy to engage external valuation experts to perform all significant financial reporting 
valuations using valuation models and significant unobservable inputs. The FD is responsible for 
selecting and engaging valuation experts that possess the relevant credentials and knowledge on the 
subject of valuation, valuation methodologies, and SFRS (I) 13 Fair Value Measurement guidance. He also 
reviews the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies and assumptions adopted and evaluates the 
appropriateness and reliability of the inputs (including those developed internally by the Group) used in 
the valuations.

At least on an annual basis, the FD evaluates all significant changes in fair value measurements for 
reasonableness. Key drivers of the changes are identified and assessed for reasonableness against 
relevant information from independent sources, or internal sources, if necessary and appropriate.

The analysis and results of the external valuations and then reported to the Audit Committee on a 
quarterly basis who then performs a high-level independent review of the valuation process and results 
and recommends if any revisions need to be made before presenting the results to the Board of Directors 
for approval. During the financial year, there is no change in the valuation technique of the various 
classes of financial instruments.

31. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit 
rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the 
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

As disclosed in Note 22(a), PRC subsidiaries are required by the relevant law and regulations of the PRC 
to contribute to and maintain a non-distributable statutory reserve fund whose utilisation is subject to 
approval by the relevant PRC authorities. This externally imposed capital requirement has been complied 
with by the above-mentioned subsidiaries for the financial years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. 
The Group includes within net debt, trade and other payables, other liabilities and loans and borrowings, 
less cash and unpledged fixed deposits. Capital includes equity attributable to the owners of the 
Company less restricted statutory reserve fund.
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31. Capital management (Cont’d)

Group
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Restated)  

Trade and other payables 24,286 13,194
Other liabilities 71,727 71,008
Loans and borrowings 204,575 210,411
Less: Cash and unpledged fixed deposits (132,948) (80,283)  

Net debt 167,640 214,330  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 571,180 573,278
Less: Reserve fund (67,552) (67,130)  

Total capital 503,628 506,148  

Capital and net debt 671,268 720,478  

Gearing ratio 0.25 0.30  

32. Comparative information

Certain comparative figure in the financial year ended 2024 have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year’s financial statements presentation as below:

Previously 
reported 

31 December 
2023

Adjustments 
31 December 

2023

Restated 
31 December 

2023
RMB RMB RMB   

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Trade and other payables 136,305 (123,111) 13,194
Loans and borrowings 87,300 123,111 210,411

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other payables (3,900) (7,406) (11,306)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 95,969 7,406 103,375
Repayments of loans and borrowings (156,767) 11,298 (145,469)
Interest paid – (11,298) (11,298)
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33. Events after end of reporting period

(a) Proposed Disposal of Jinjiang Jianxin Weaving Co., Ltd.

As announced on 11 December 2024, the Group intends to dispose of its indirect wholly owned 
subsidiary, Jinjiang Jianxin Weaving Co., Ltd., which operates in the processing segment. The 
disposal proceeds are expected to strengthen the Group’s working capital and further improve its 
financial position. As of the date of issuance of the financial statements, there have been no further 
updates regarding the disposal, except that the Company has appointed a new independent valuer 
to reassess the fair value of the subsidiary. The valuation process is currently ongoing.

(b) Proposed Listing in the United States of America

The Company has proposed a listing on National Association of Security Dealers Automated 
Quotations (“NASDAQ”) as part of its strategic expansion plans. As of the date of issuance of the 
financial statements, the Company has submitted the necessary application documents to the 
relevant regulatory authorities. The listing process remains ongoing, with the Company actively 
collaborating with its appointed advisors to ensure compliance with all applicable regulatory and 
listing requirements, subject to approval from the relevant authorities.
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Authorised share capital : S$200,000,000
Issued and fully-paid up capital* : S$344,109 (equivalent to RMB 1,874,000) 
No. of shares issued (excluding Treasury shares) : 17,205,438
Class of shares : Ordinary share of S$0.02 each
Voting rights : One vote per share

Note:

* On 24 December 2024, the Company announced that the Capital Reorganisation were effected to reduce the par value of each 
ordinary share from SGD 5.00 to SGD 0.02

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF 
SHAREHOLDERS %

NO. OF 
SHARES %     

1 – 99 110 9.94 4,782 0.03
100 – 1,000 644 58.18 296,320 1.72
1,001 – 10,000 284 25.65 824,311 4.79
10,001 – 1,000,000 68 6.14 6,011,385 34.94
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 1 0.09 10,068,640 58.52     

TOTAL 1,107 100.00 17,205,438 100.00     

TREASURY SHARES AND SUBSIDIARY HOLDINGS

Number of treasury shares held : 277,720
Percentage of treasury shares held against total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares)

: 1.61% 

Number of subsidiary holdings : NIL
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NAME NO. OF SHARES %   

HONG QINGLIANG 10,068,640 58.52
HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 982,300 5.71
ABN AMRO CLEARING BANK N.V. 856,200 4.98
KHOE HONG OAN 852,000 4.95
UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 596,320 3.47
SOH SENG LYE 250,000 1.45
DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 186,740 1.09
MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 169,078 0.98
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 146,837 0.85
RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED 129,050 0.75
WONG PANG FEI 115,384 0.67
SHI NENGYI 99,680 0.58
WU SHU MAN 72,600 0.42
XU PENG FENG 70,000 0.41
NG SOON HOCK (HUANG SHUNFU) 65,900 0.38
ONG SWEE LOONG 64,000 0.37
CAI MINGXIN 62,240 0.36
MOOMOO FINANCIAL SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. 60,500 0.35
KWEK LAY HAR 55,460 0.32
NUN KWONG HOLDINGS PTE LTD 45,760 0.27  

TOTAL 14,948,689 86.88  

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 19 March 2025)

Direct 
Interest %

Deemed 
Interest %

Hong Qing Liang 10,068,640 58.52 – –

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS IN PUBLIC HANDS

Approximately 39.32 % of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company 
has complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM” or the “Meeting”) of the Company will 
be convened and held at Level 4, Training Room 4-2, 60 Cecil Street, ISCA House, Singapore 049709 on 
Wednesday, 30 April 2025 at 11.30 a.m. for the purposes of transacting the following business:–

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company and 
of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024”), together with the Independent 
Auditor’s Report thereon.  (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect Mr. Hong Qing Liang who is retiring pursuant to Bye-law 86 of the Company’s Bye-laws and 
who, being eligible, offer himself for re-election as Director.[See Explanatory Note (i)] (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company (the “Directors”) who are retiring pursuant to Bye-law 
85(6) of the Company’s Bye-laws and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors:–

(a) Mr. Koh Boon Chiao (Resolution 3)
[See Explanatory Note (ii)]

(b) Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin (Resolution 4)
[See Explanatory Note (iii)]

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$118,928 for the financial year ending 31 December 2025, 
to be paid half yearly in arrears (FY2024: S$111,695). (Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint Messrs RT LLP as the Independent Auditors of the Company to hold office until the next 
AGM and to authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 6)

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:–

7. Authority to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (Resolution 7)

“That pursuant to Rule 806 of the Listing Manual (the “Listing Rules”) of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to:–

(a) (i) allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) whether by way of rights, 
bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, the “Instruments”) that might or 
would require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as 
well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into 
Shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) 
issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution 
is in force,



153FUXING CHINA GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 

provided that:–

(1) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be 
issued in pursuance of the Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not 
exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the Company’s total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury 
shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), 
of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing 
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
the Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution), shall not exceed twenty per cent. 
(20%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if 
any) (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose 
of determining the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued pursuant to the 
Instruments) that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) shall be 
calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary 
holdings, if any) at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:–

(i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible 
securities which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed;

(ii) (where applicable) new Shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of 
share awards, provided that such share options or share awards (as the case may be) were 
granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules; and

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

adjustments in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(i) or sub-paragraph (2)(ii) above are only to be 
made in respect of new Shares arising from the Instruments, convertible securities, share options 
or share awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this 
Resolution;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 
provisions the Listing Rules (including supplemental measures hereto) for the time being in force 
(unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), and the Bye-Laws of the Company; 
and

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this 
Resolution shall continue in force until (i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by 
law to be held, whichever is the earlier, or (ii) in the case of Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such Shares in 
accordance with the terms of the Instruments.”

[See Explanatory Note (iv)]

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Chua Kern
Company Secretary

Singapore,
15 April 2025
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Explanatory Notes:

(i) Mr. Hong Qing Liang (“Mr. Hong”) will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Executive Chairman of the 
Company. Detailed information on Mr. Hong can be found under the sections entitled “Board of Directors”, “Corporate Governance 
Report” in the Company’s Annual Report FY2024.

(ii) Mr. Koh Boon Chiao (“Mr. Koh”) will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Independent Non-Executive 
Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nominating Committee. There 
are no relationships (including family relationship) between Mr. Koh and the other Directors, the Company, its related corporations, 
its officers or its substantial shareholders, which may affect his independence. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) considers Mr. 
Koh to be independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Rules. Detailed information on Mr. Koh can be found under the 
sections entitled “Board of Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report” in the Company’s Annual Report FY2024.

(iii) Ms. Tsang Ngo Yin (“Ms. Tsang”) will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Independent Non-Executive 
Director, the Chairman of the Nominating Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. 
There are no relationships (including family relationship) between Ms. Tsang and the other Directors, the Company, its related 
corporations, its officers or its substantial shareholders, which may affect her independence. The Board considers Ms. Tsang to be 
independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Rules. Detailed information on Ms. Tsang can be found under the sections 
entitled “Board of Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report” in the Company’s Annual Report FY2024.

(iv) Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of this AGM until the date of 
the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority 
is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is earlier, to allot and issue Shares, make or grant Instruments 
convertible into Shares and to issue Shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, fifty per cent. 
(50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any), of which up to twenty per 
cent. (20%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) may be issued other 
than on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued Shares will be 
calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, if any) at the time this 
Resolution is passed after adjusting for new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible 
securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this 
Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares.

Notes:

1. Members will be able to vote at the AGM in person, or by appointing proxy(ies) to vote on their behalf. A member can appoint the 
Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy but this is not mandatory. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. If a Depositor (who is not an individual) whose name appears in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the 
Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore) wishes to attend and vote at the AGM, then he/she/it should complete the 
Depositor Proxy Form and deposit the duly completed Depositor Proxy Form at the office of the Company’s Singapore Share 
Transfer Agent at Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, Keppel Bay Tower #14-07, 
Singapore 098632 by 11.30 a.m. on Sunday, 27 April 2025 (being not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed 
for holding the AGM).

3. If the Depositor is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy must be executed under its seal or the hand of its duly 
authorised officer or attorney.

4. The AGM will be held in a wholly physical format at Level 4, Training Room 4-2, 60 Cecil Street, ISCA House, Singapore 049709 on 
Wednesday, 30 April 2025 at 11.30 a.m.. There will be no option for members to participate virtually.

Members may participate in the AGM by:–

(i) attending the AGM in person;
(ii) submitting questions to the Chairman of the AGM in advance of, or at, the AGM; and/or
(iii) voting at the AGM (i) themselves; or (ii) through duly appointed proxy(ies).

Printed copies of the Notice of AGM and the accompanying Proxy Form will be sent by post to members and published on the 
SGXNet at https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements.
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The Annual Report for FY2024 (“Annual Report FY2024”) will be published on the SGXNet at the URL https://www.sgx.com/
securities/company-announcements. Printed copies of the Annual Report FY2024 will not be sent to members unless requested for 
by a member submitting a request by email to oilinfxcg@gmail.com by 23 April 2025. The following information must be provided:–

(i) the member’s full name;
(ii) the member’s address; and
(iii) the manner in which the shares are held.

A printed copy of the Annual Report FY2024 will then be sent to the address specified by the member.

Details of the steps for registration, submission of questions and voting at the AGM by members are set out below:

A. Attend in person at the AGM

Members and (where applicable) duly appointed proxies can attend the AGM in person. They will first need to register 
personally at the registration counter(s) outside the AGM venue on the day of the event, and should bring along their NRIC/passport 
to enable the Company to verify their identity for entry to, and (where applicable) be provided with a handheld device for electronic 
voting at, the physical meeting.

Registration will commence at 11.00 a.m.. Members are advised not to attend the AGM if they are feeling unwell.

B. Submit questions in advance of, or at, the AGM

Members, including Supplementary Retirement Scheme Investors (“SRS Investors”), can submit substantial and relevant 
questions related to the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM in advance of, or at, the AGM.

Submitting questions in advance of the AGM. Members including, SRS Investors, may submit substantial and relevant questions 
related to the resolutions to be tabled at the AGM to the Chairman of the AGM, in advance of the AGM, in the following manner:

• Via email. Members may submit their questions via email to oilinfxcg@gmail.com.

When submitting questions via email, members should provide the Company with the following details to enable the Company to 
verify their status as members:–

(i) the member’s full name (as per CDP records);
(ii) the last four alphanumeric characters of the member’s NRIC/FIN/Passport No./UEN;
(iii) the member’s address; and
(iv) the manner in which the member holds his/her/its shares in the Company (e.g., CDP).

Deadline for submitting questions in advance of the AGM. All questions submitted in advance of the AGM via email must be 
received by the Company by 11.30 a.m. on 23 April 2025.

Asking questions at the AGM. Members and (where applicable) duly appointed proxies may also ask the Chairman of the AGM 
substantial and relevant questions related to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM, at the AGM itself.

Addressing questions. The Company will address all substantial and relevant questions received from members by the submission 
deadline by publishing its responses to such questions by 11.30 a.m. on Friday, 25 April 2025 on the SGX website prior to the 
AGM.

The Company will address any subsequent clarifications sought, or substantial and relevant follow-up questions (which are related 
to the resolutions to be tabled for approval at the AGM) received after the 23 April 2025 submission deadline which have not 
already been addressed prior to the AGM, as well as those substantial and relevant questions received at the AGM, at the AGM 
itself. Where substantially similar questions are received, the Company will consolidate such questions and consequently not all 
questions may be individually addressed.

Minutes of AGM. The Company will publish the minutes of the AGM on the SGX website, and the minutes will include the 
responses to substantial and relevant questions and clarifications from members (if any) which are addressed during the AGM 
within one (1) month after the date of the AGM.
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C. Vote in person, or appoint proxy(ies) to vote, at the AGM

Members can vote at the AGM themselves or through duly appointed proxy(ies). Please refer to paragraph A. above regarding 
registration in person at the AGM venue.

Members who wish to appoint a proxy(ies) must submit an instrument appointing a proxy(ies).

Submission of instruments appointing a proxy(ies). The instrument appointing a proxy(ies) must be submitted to the Company.

(i) if submitted by email, to oilinfxcg@gmail.com; or

(ii) if submitted by post, be deposited at the Company’s Singapore Share Transfer Agent, Boardroom Corporate & 
Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 1 Harbourfront Avenue, #14-07 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632,

in either case, by 11.30 a.m. on Sunday, 27 April 2025 (being not less than seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for 
holding the AGM) (or at any adjournment thereof) and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

A member who wishes to submit an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) can either use the printed copy of the Proxy Form which is 
sent to him/her/it by post, and complete and sign the Proxy Form, before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or 
before scanning and submitting it by email to the email address provided above.

If a member wishes to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, such member (whether individual or corporate) must give 
specific instructions as to voting for, voting against, or abstentions from voting on, each resolution in the instrument appointing the 
Chairman of the AGM as proxy. If there is no specific instruction as to voting or abstentions from voting in respect of a resolution in 
the form of proxy, the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

Where a member appoints proxy(ies), he/she/it may give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of 
the resolutions in the Proxy Form, failing which the proxy(ies) will vote or abstain from voting at his/her/its discretion, as he/she/it 
may on any other matter arising at the AGM.

Deemed revocation of proxy appointment if member attends the AGM in person. Completion and submission of the instrument 
appointing a proxy(ies) by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and voting at the AGM if he/she so wishes. 
The appointment of a proxy(ies) for the AGM shall be deemed to be revoked if the member attends the AGM in person, and in such 
event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing 
a proxy(ies), to the AGM.

Please refer to the detailed instructions set out in the Proxy Form.

Personal data privacy statement:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment 
thereof, a member/Depositor of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s/Depositor’s personal 
data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and 
representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, 
minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to 
comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the 
member/Depositor discloses the personal data of the member’s/Depositor’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its 
agents), the member/Depositor has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and 
disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees 
that the member/Depositor will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a 
result of the member’s/Depositor’s breach of warranty.
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